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Tuesday, November 2, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:06 a.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Do we have a preliminary matter before proceeding with panel 10B?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Just one preliminary matter, members of the Panel, if I may.


CME had been scheduled to call Bruce Sharp following OPG's last panel, the panel that is presently sitting, and his evidence can be found at Exhibit M5, tab 5, I believe.


I had a conversation with Mr. DeRose yesterday.  As I understand it, OPG was the only party who was going to cross-examine Mr. Sharp.  And, subject to how the Board wants to deal with it, we thought it might be appropriate to just deal with the one question that OPG had and which Mr. Sharp has agreed to answer by my putting it on the record now, and that will dispense with him having to come to testify later today.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And you are fine with that, Mr. DeRose?


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Madam Chair, obviously subject to if this Panel wishes him to come down, if you wish to question him.


But the -- and perhaps -- I am not sure whether my friend wanted me to describe the question and answer, or would you like --


MR. SMITH:  Why don't I just read it in?


MR. DeROSE:  Sure.


MR. SMITH:  At page 2 of his testimony, Mr. Sharp refers to certain cost increase elements, and the question is:

"To confirm that with the exception of the line 'OPG', the other cost increase elements referred to are not directly under the control of OPG." 


Answer, "confirm".


MR. DeROSE:  Confirmed.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, I can just indicate we -- in previous cases where we have expert testimony with a report, but the expert is not called, I believe the practice is normally to -- would be for myself to have Mr. Sharp execute an affidavit where he adopts his evidence, as well as the interrogatories that he filed in this case, under oath for the purpose of it becoming evidence in this proceeding, and we would then file the affidavit with the Board.


That would be the process that I would suggest is appropriate, if you do not want Mr. Sharp to come down in person.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, that's fine with us.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you very much.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just before we proceed, I want to just ensure that we have the up-to-date schedule for the completion of the proceedings and the arguments on the transcript.


So my information is that OPG will provide much of the answer to undertaking 10.11 on November 19th.  That is scenarios 1, 2 and 3.  And it will provide its argument in-chief on the same day.  They will provide the remaining -- the balance of that undertaking, which is scenario 4, on November 25th.


The Board will reserve the morning of the 26th for cross-examination on this evidence, if it is required.


Board Staff will file its submission on November 30th.  Intervenors will file their submissions on December 6th, and OPG will file its reply no later than December 20th.


Subject to any questions, I guess we are ready to proceed with you, Mr. DeRose, for this panel.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 10B, resumed


Andrew Barrett, Sworn Previously


David Halperin, Sworn Previously


Robin Heard, Sworn Previously


Alex Kogan, Sworn Previously

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Panel, I would like to - Mr. Barrett - just very briefly understand the role of regulatory in relation to the role of the finance planning group.


Am I right that regulatory does not have any role in the development of the business planning instructions or the business plans themselves?


MR. BARRETT:  No, that's not correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, can you tell me what your role is in preparing the business plans?  I'm sorry, I believe your microphone is not on.


MR. BARRETT:  There is a section in the business planning instructions which deals with the requirement for certain information to be prepared in anticipation of rate filings.  And we could turn to that section of the instructions, if you'd like.


MR. DeROSE:  In fact, if you turn to CME compendium K9.5, tab 2, I think it would be helpful if you did take us there.


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, we have that.


MR. DeROSE:  And you were going to point out?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  If you look at page 7, there is a section 2.4 called "Regulatory Requirements", and the contact person is Ms. Reuber.  So in those instances where we anticipate making a rate filing, we note in the business planning instruction the requirement for certain information and that this information would be used in a rate filing.


So it is a relatively small section.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do you have any role in -- I guess with the -- when the business plans are prepared and submitted to finance, before they go to the board of directors, will you review those business plans to ensure consistency with the business planning instructions?


MR. BARRETT:  No, I will not.  I will not.


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, when you say you will not, the regulatory group does not?


MR. BARRETT:  The regulatory group does not.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.


Now, do I understand it correctly that once the business plans are prepared and approved by the board of directors, the approved plans then become the basis -- I take it you then receive the approved business plans?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right, our group would.


MR. DeROSE:  And that approved business plan would then form the basis over which you then prepare the application?


MR. BARRETT:  In those years when we're filing an application, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Correct.  So when we look at the business planning instructions, 2010 to 2014, that are at issue in this case, that was the situation?


MR. BARRETT:  Our mic appears to be off.  There we are.


Yes, that was the business plan that underpinned the current application.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.


Now, Mr. Barrett, I asked this question to Mr. Halperin and I want to ask it to you, as well.  If you could turn to tab 26 of the compendium, this is a decision from Hydro One.  If you could then turn to page 13 of that decision?


You will see in the middle of the page there is the fourth bullet that says:

"The Board must take into account the overall increase and prospect of further increases in the commodity portion of the bill.  While these charges are outside of the control of the applicant, they are no less real for customers.  In giving effect to the Board's objective to protect the interests of consumers, the Board cannot ignore the overall impacts on customers."


Now, first of all, in your role in the regulatory group, would you have been made aware of this Hydro One decision?


MR. BARRETT:  Certainly we look at decisions coming out of the Board.  However, I hadn't seen this particular section of this decision previously.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, fair enough.


And am I right that the Board's statutory objective to protect the interests of consumers would apply in the same manner to all of the utilities that it regulates?  So it would apply to OPG in the same way that it would apply to Hydro One or any other?


MR. SMITH:  Well, just -- he is surely not asking whether as a legal matter that proposition is correct or not.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, I am asking, as head of the regulatory, is Mr. Barrett aware of any reason why the Board's statutory objective would apply differently to OPG?


MR. BARRETT:  I think that objective applies to OPG.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you very much.


Now, can I turn you to -- it is an interrogatory, CME interrogatory.  The issue number is 1.3.  It is CME Interrogatory No. 3.


MR. BARRETT:  It is not in here?


MR. DeROSE:  It is not in there, I'm sorry.  We're going to have to rely on your evidence as filed.  So it is under issue 1.3.


MR. BARRETT:  Do you have a tab number?


MR. DeROSE:  Exhibit L, tab 5, schedule 3.

Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I have that.

MR. DeROSE:  The first question that we ask is to:

“Provide OPG's estimate in dollars per megawatt-hour of the total all-in electricity price that is currently being paid."

And then we ask for the average residential, the average general service, and the average large volume electricity consumer.

And your answer, if you then flip the page, is that:

“OPG does not believe that this information is relevant to determination of payment amounts for the prescribed facilities."

Now, do you see that? 

MR. BARRETT:  I do, yes. 

MR. DeROSE:  Now, Mr. Barrett, in light of the Board's statutory objective to protect consumer interests with respect to prices, could you explain to me why you do not believe that the overall electricity prices for consumers are not relevant to this Board's consideration of your application?

MR. BARRETT:  Our view is that the Board has an obligation to set just and reasonable rates, and that obligation would be the same whether or not the economy is in a recession or whether the economy is booming. 

The standard should be no different, in our view. 

So the Board needs to look at the work programs, the evidence, the initiatives, the things which -- the costs which underpin our application. And assess whether or not they pass that just and reasonable test. 

Once it has established just and reasonable rates, then I think you engage the question of whether or not there is an impact on customers that needs to be mitigated.  And that -- but that follows subsequent, and that is a circumstance where you look at potentially extending the term over when certain of those just and reasonable costs might be recovered.

I think that is consistent with what the OEB has found in the Electricity Rate Handbook, where it established a threshold of 10 percent impact on customer bills as a place where you need to start looking at mitigation.

So in that circumstance, the mitigation doesn't have a negative implication for the utility.  The utility still recovers its cost, perhaps over a longer period of time, but is also allowed to recover the carry on that deferred cost. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So Mr. Barrett, do I then understand what your position is, is that total overall customer impacts is only a consideration with respect to mitigation?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  What I said is mitigation is engaged when they're looking at the impact that arises from our application.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so in your view, the determination of just and reasonable rates does not include an assessment of the overall impacts on customers?  That is only engaged after just and reasonable rates are set and you determine whether mitigation is necessary? 

MR. BARRETT:  Just and reasonable rates require the Board to look at the proposals the company is making, the budgets, the cost estimates, the work programs, and decide whether or not they're reasonable. 

MR. DeROSE:  And does that include an assessment of the overall customer cost impacts? 

MR. BARRETT:  I would say no. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  We will leave that to argument. 

Now, in fact, Mr. Barrett, let me then take you back to the business planning, which is CME compendium No. 2.

Do you have that? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeROSE:  If you can turn to page 3. 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, you will see that the first paragraph recognizes that:

“The business planning process is occurring against a backdrop of unique financial set of circumstances.  It recognizes that Ontario has been hit hard by the global financial meltdown."

And then as you move down, it talks about unprecedented economic turmoil, and the fact that Ontario businesses are fighting for survival and ratepayers are facing economic hardship.

If what you say is accurate, that customer impacts should not be considered in the context of establishing just and reasonable rates, why would you have that language in the first two paragraphs of your business planning process?  And perhaps this is Mr. Halperin, can also answer this. 

MR. BARRETT:  Well, let me start, and Mr. Halperin can augment as he thinks appropriate. 

I think as Mr. Halperin has previously testified, this provides context for our business planning process. 

The company is, in this business planning process -- as in others, but perhaps more so in this business planning process -- trying to drive efficiencies in its business, to reduce its costs and become a more efficient enterprise.  And I think the results of the business plan speak to our success in that respect. 

We are here essentially with a business plan that is three years since the last time we were before the Board, and we have a proposal to include -- increase our base payment amounts by between three and four percent. 

And we have a very modest impact on customer bills. 

So this is context that helps reinforce the messages that we're driving through the business, to become more efficient, to be more cost-effective. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, Mr. Barrett, can I then turn you up to -- again it is CCC Interrogatory No. 3, Issue No. 1.3, Exhibit L, tab 4, schedule 3. 

Do you have that? 

MR. BARRETT:  L-4, schedule 3, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  You will see that CCC asked –- well, the interrogatory reads:

“On April 15th, 2010 Andrew Barrett sent an e-mail to OPG stakeholders indicating that OPG was looking for ways to 'further lessen the impact of our request on ratepayers'.  Please explain how the objective to reduce impacts on ratepayers fits into OPG's overall business planning process."

Your answer is:

“Customer cost impacts are a key consideration in OPG's business planning process."

Now, are customer cost impacts a key consideration?  Or is it merely context?  Or in your mind, is "context" synonymous with "key consideration"? 

MR. BARRETT:  Well, I think -- let me just respond, and then Mr. Halperin can augment. 

Context is important to the business planning process.  I think it starts off, the document which provides instructions to all the people involved.

And I will maybe ask Mr. Halperin to augment that.

MR. HALPERIN:  I was just going to say, you're trying to draw sort of a parallel between your earlier question here in terms of whether there is a consideration where we're looking at the rate increase, as opposed to what are our considerations when doing the business planning.

And I think we made it clear that in our business planning process, we have gone to great lengths to make sure that there is prudent consideration given to cost considerations, particularly in this planning process, given the environment we're in.  And the business units need to take that guidance, as they do their planning and make their trade-offs during their business plan, and that is what happened. 

And so I don't think -- I guess I am a little confused, that's all, between the distinction you are making -- or you are not making between what is in our business planning process, and what was a rate consideration or customer impact consideration further down the road.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, Mr. Halperin, do you agree with Mr. Barrett that the language that is in the corporate business planning instructions in the introduction is there just for context?

MR. HALPERIN:  It is there for context and for direction for the business units, in terms of how they approach their business planning this year. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. HALPERIN:  Or that year. 

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, I wonder if I could just -- just to provide some additional thoughts on this matter, because it is obviously of importance to you. 

The way I look at just and reasonable rates, and customer impacts, you couldn't have a circumstance where the Board said:  Here's the just and reasonable rates, and then we're going to give you less than that because we think it would be harmful to customers, because we're in the midst of difficult times.

I don't think that would be right, because the converse doesn't hold.  You couldn't have a circumstance where the economy was doing very well and the Board say:  Well, this is the just and reasonable level of costs, but we're going to give the utility more than its just and reasonable level.

So I don't think it works that the just and reasonable standard should vary depending upon whether the economy is doing well or poorly.  I think you get into that issue when you look at whether or not there is mitigation required subsequent to the finding of the just and reasonable cost level.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I was going to move to a different topic, but you've raised the issue.

In your view, is the establishment of just and reasonable rates -- does the Board establish that in a vacuum, not looking at overall customer cost impacts?  Is that your view?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't believe the Board should look at the overall impact on customer rates.  They should look at the reasonableness of the cost proposals that the company is making.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just to ensure that I am clear, Mr. Barrett, when you say the Board shouldn't look at the - was it the overall impact - by that are you meaning the impacts from a variety of influences, not just OPG's proposal?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, Mr. Barrett, could I have you turn up again in the CME compendium -- can I take you to tab 8?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I have that.

MR. DeROSE:  Then if I could have you turn two pages in, this is a letter from Minister Duguid dated May 5th, 2010.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, Mr. Barrett, did the regulatory group receive a copy of this letter when it was received?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so was it the responsibility of the regulatory group to consider the issues described in the letter from the minister?

MR. BARRETT:  I think it is broader than the regulatory group.  It is addressed to the company's CEO, Mr. Tom Mitchell.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Were you given -- was the regulatory group given the responsibility to - and I am paraphrasing here - to reassess the contents of the rate application?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, following discussions with senior management.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And --


MR. BARRETT:  Just to put the sequence of events in their proper order, as you know, OPG decided on its own initiative to pull back from the filing in April and to reassess, in response to concerns expressed in the media and elsewhere, and satisfy itself that it had done everything that was appropriate in the circumstance to lessen the impact on customers.

I think it is instructive to observe that what the company did in the end was extend the term of its largest variance account.  It did not reduce the revenue requirement, and that was principally because the view was that, through the business planning process, we had made all of the cuts and reductions that it was reasonable and prudent to make.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, was it your group's decision to not ask the planning groups to reconsider their business plans?

MR. BARRETT:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  Whose decision was that; do you know?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Whose decision was it?

MR. BARRETT:  Mr. Mitchell's.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you were asked -- your group was asked to reassess the contents of your rate application, as I understand it, the only change that was made was extending the period over which you would recover some of your OEB costs; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Extending the term of recovery for the tax loss variance account.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  What other alternatives did your group consider?

MR. BARRETT:  We looked at -- we only looked at extending the term of variance accounts.  We looked at various terms.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So you would not have, for instance, looked or considered whether the shareholder could take a lower ROE?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  That was explicitly ruled out, as I indicated by Mr. Mitchell.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Sorry, when you say explicitly ruled out by Mr. Mitchell, could you explain that?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, in the sense we were not going to adjust our business plans.  We were going to look at recovery of the variance and deferral accounts.

MR. DeROSE:  So the decision was made that the only reassessment that you should undertake is to look at the period of recovery?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, was requesting an implementation date of March 1st new, as well, or that had always been part of the application?

MR. BARRETT:  It was a new development.  We originally envisioned January 1, based on discussions with Board Staff about the timing of our proceeding.  However, given that we had lost time - we had originally intended to file in the middle of April and we were going to file at the end of May - there was an acknowledgement on the part of OPG that we had lost time and that we would not be able to complete this proceeding in time to get rates in place for January 1.  And our -- so on that basis, we had applied for rates to begin on March 1st, 2011.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Barrett, are you aware that CME has been critical of what we've referred to as the partial bill impact analysis as opposed to a total bill impact analysis?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I am aware of that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And have you reviewed Mr. Sharp's evidence?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And just for the record, that is the evidence at M5, schedule 1.

I am wondering, do you have a copy of that?  Would you be able to --


MR. BARRETT:  It is probably on the cart.

MR. DeROSE:  I would hope it is.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, we have it.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, first of all, just on the very first page under the heading "Background", the fourth paragraph reads that:
"The information upon which this analysis is based includes information published by the Ontario Power Authority ('OPA'), the Independent Electricity System Operator ('IESO'), Ontario electricity distributors, and rate case filings with the OEB made by Hydro One and OPG."


Just stopping there, I take it you would agree with me that if OPG were to decide that it wanted to undertake a total bill analysis, is it fair that this is the type of publicly available information that you would think that OPG would look at?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly this information would be relevant.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if the Board were to decide as a matter of -- on a going-forward basis that it wants to look at total bill impact analysis in the context of OPG rate cases, is there any reason why OPG could not prepare this type of analysis based on publicly available information?

MR. SMITH:  Well, subject to the caveat that it will be OPG's position in argument that that is not legally permissible.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Mr. Barrett, would you be capable of preparing an analysis on total bill impact based on publicly available information?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I think there are some gaps in the publicly available information.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  Some of it is not readily available, but to the extent that information was in the public domain, we could use it to make that calculation.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  I take it that OPG has not undertaken any type of analysis of total bill impact?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Can I then turn you to page 7 of Mr. Sharp's report?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And you will see that under the heading "Unit Cost Impacts", second paragraph, Mr. Sharp says:
"Based on the forecast total unit cost increase and depending on the reference unit cost, by early 2015, non-residential consumers would see their total unit cost rise by 47% - 64% ... This is equivalent to an average, annual, compounded increase of 8.0% - 10.4% ..." 

I take it if OPG has not conducted an analysis, you have no basis to either agree or disagree with Mr. Sharp's conclusion?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then if you turn the page, with respect to residential customers, second paragraph under the heading "Residential", Mr. Sharp concludes that:

“Based on the forecast total unit cost increase and depending on the reference unit cost, by early 2015 residential customers would see their total unit cost rise by 38 to 47 percent."

Again, not conducting the analysis, I take it OPG's not in a position to either agree or disagree with Mr. Sharp on that point?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, if I can have you turn up the CME compendium again. 

MR. BARRETT:  Should I put the report away? 

MR. DeROSE:  Yes, that is it for the report, unless you feel the need to refer to it again. 

Now, if you can turn up the CME compendium, tab 13. 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  This is an exhibit -- an excerpt from your last case, EB-2007-0905, Exhibit K1, tab 1, schedule 2. 

And in that case, the basis -- and this is addressing, obviously, mitigation of payment amount increases.  In the first paragraph OPG writes as follows:

“OPG recognizes that the revenue requirement increase over the current payment amounts is significant and will have an impact on electricity consumers.  OPG proposes to mitigate this impact by crediting the benefit associated with certain tax losses accumulated over the interim period to consumers in the test period."

I take it -- and so can we agree that in this case, OPG considered whether mitigation was appropriate, first of all?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  This was a unique circumstance, I would say, in two respects.

One, it was the first application, a transitional application from an interim rate period where rates were established by the government, to a period where we were going to be regulated by the OEB.

And perhaps more importantly, it was an application that, absent mitigation, would have featured a rate increase of 19 percent.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, the consideration and the conclusion was that mitigation was appropriate in that case; correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in this case, there is no evidence that explicitly addresses mitigation of payment amount increases; correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  I think that is a reflection of the much more modest increase that is central to this application. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Did you consider whether mitigation was or was not appropriate? 

MR. BARRETT:  In the original conception of the application that we were discussing with stakeholders as part of our stakeholder process, there was no provision for mitigation. 

But as we discussed, the company's management decided, as a result of public commentary and concern, to go back and see if something further could be done, and what we ended up proposing was a change in the recovery period for the tax loss variance account. 

MR. DeROSE:  Now, that was after the minister told you to go back and reassess; correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  No.  If you look at the timeline, the decision to -- OPG decided to pull the application in April.  The minister's letter, I think, is dated May 5th. 

So we had already done all of the work, essentially, in terms of deciding to pull the application -- or delay the application, rather, because it was never filed.  So it is not right to think of it is as pulled.  But to delay the application and to look at extending the term of the variance account.

MR. DeROSE:  So are you saying, Mr. Barrett, that after May 5th, 2010, when you got the minister's letter, that you didn't change anything?  It had already been decided prior to the minister's letter? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So there was no further reassessment of the contents of your rate application between May 5th to May 20th?

MR. BARRETT:  It was just finalization of the materials and preparation for the presentation to the Board.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you. 

Now, in this case, subject to what you have just described in terms of extending the period of time, was there any other consideration of the appropriateness of mitigation?

MR. BARRETT:  You're talking now about the current application? 

MR. DeROSE:  When you were preparing your application, you got the business plans approved from the board of directors, prior to announcing in March that you were going to be filing as you were preparing your application, what considerations were given to mitigation? 

MR. BARRETT:  There were no considerations given to mitigation because, as I previously indicated, we had done a lot of work in the business planning process to drive efficiencies in the business, and we had, in our view, a very modest rate increase and one that didn't warrant mitigation, and certainly one that did not give rise to the level of a 10 percent impact on the customer bill, which has been the Board's standard for utilities to propose a mitigation mechanism.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, Mr. Barrett, we have already talked about the business planning instructions, but the context that you were setting out in your business planning instructions, using words such as "global financial meltdown" and "economic turmoil," within that context, you do not feel that it was appropriate for you to consider whether mitigation should or should not be provided? 

MR. BARRETT:  Again, we worked through the business planning process to reduce our costs and drive efficiencies in the business, to establish very challenging targets for the business over the test period. 

And once we saw the results of that business plan in terms of the impact on customers, we did not believe that mitigation, any further mitigation was required.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you say that no further mitigation was required --


MR. BARRETT:  Well, no mitigation was required.

MR. DeROSE:  And I take it that -- was there any type of detailed consideration?  Or did you just look at it and say:  It's not 10 percent?  Was there an analysis at the regulatory level?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  It was a business judgment. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you. 

Now, I have a question about the nuclear fuel variance account.  I am not sure who that is.

MR. BARRETT:  Well, it may start with me and it may go to Mr. Kogan, depending on how much you want to get into the details. 

MR. DeROSE:  I don't want to get into the details. 

This is a question that Mr. Millar had asked with respect to working capital. 

And first of all, just the context of it, there is an element for nuclear fuel in working capital; correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, is the element for nuclear fuel in working capital, is that captured by the nuclear fuel variance account?

MR. BARRETT:  No. 

MR. DeROSE:  Why not? 

MR. BARRETT:  That's not how the account was designed or constituted, or approved by the Board.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do I then understand it that the amount in working capital for nuclear fuel, to the extent -- you pick an amount that you ascribe to that "working capital" line; correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  There is an amount from our financial and accounting records that we use. 

MR. DeROSE:  Right.  And that is, you pick a cost for the fuel to be used for the test period; correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  Are you talking about the forecast expense?

MR. DeROSE:  The amount you use in the working capital. 

MR. BARRETT:  The forecast in working capital? 

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  It is basically a forecast of the inventory. 

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And to the extent that your costs are actually lower than the ratepayers -- there is an amount in the working capital that the ratepayers are paying too much for the fuel; correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  That's true of any variance in rate base.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.

MR. BARRETT:  If the rate base is understated or overstated, there will be a variance that is either to the benefit or disbenefit of ratepayers.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Is there any reason why the fuel element of your working capital calculation cannot be captured by the nuclear fuel variance account, like the rest of your fuel costs are captured? 

[Witness panel confers.] 

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry, can you restate your question, sir?

MR. DeROSE:  Is there a reason why the amount for nuclear fuel that you use in your working capital calculation cannot be captured by the nuclear fuel variance account, so that that element of your working capital is treated the same way as all of your other nuclear fuel purchases are treated, subject to a variance account?

MR. BARRETT:  I would say a couple of things in response, sir. 

One, that would be fairly complicated, given the nature of inventory calculations.  Two, it would be very unusual for there to be a variance account attached to rate base or an item of rate base.  I am not sure if I can recollect that ever having been approved by this Board, but there may have been an isolated example.

And given the history of variances in inventory amount are relatively modest in terms of their impact on the revenue requirement, I don't believe it would meet the materiality threshold that the Board normally ascribes to variance accounts.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, fair enough.  We will leave that for argument.

Now, panel, if I can have you turn to -- this is under now issue 10.2.  It is CME Interrogatory No. 37.

MR. BARRETT:  The tab number, sir?

MR. DeROSE:  Exhibit L, tab 5, schedule 37.  This is under issue number 10.2.

MR. BARRETT:  Do you have that?  I actually don't have that interrogatory in my materials.

MR. DeROSE:  You know what?  I think I can ask the questions without the interrogatory.  I was going to use the interrogatory as context, but let me try it this way.

First of all, you would agree that OPG makes payments in lieu of income, capital and property taxes to the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, we would.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in the interrogatory, you make reference to the fact that taxes paid and amounts recovered through rates for taxes are unrelated.

Could you explain to me how they are unrelated or why they are unrelated?

MR. HEARD:  Sorry, could you repeat the question one more time?

MR. DeROSE:  You have said in the interrogatory that the accounting for taxes paid and the amounts recovered through rates for taxes are not related.

MR. KOGAN:  I think there are a number of reasons.  One of the reasons is that the taxes are calculated on a stand-alone regco basis for the purposes of the application; whereas the taxes that OPG as a legal entity pays are on a commingled basis, if you wish, for the entirety of its operations.  That would be one reason.

The second reason would be some of the principles upon which the calculation of regulatory taxes is done, and we had an extensive discussion yesterday on some of the principles with respect to benefits follows costs, as an example, that may not necessarily apply when we're calculating actual income taxes.

And, as well, there would be a difference with respect to prescribed facilities that we have, future income taxes or deferred income taxes, if you will, that are not considered for prescribed facilities in the context of setting regulatory income tax expense and revenue requirement.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so from a layperson's perspective, I take it that the amount that you recover in rates for taxes may not be the amount that you actually pay the OEFC?

MR. KOGAN:  I think it is important to distinguish that we pay to the OEFC on a company-wide basis, not on a regco basis, so it included our unregulated operations.

So certainly there could be a situation where the two amounts are not directly related.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in this -- the deferred tax variance account, as I understand it, if -- first of all, can you confirm that if the Board grants exactly what you are asking for, the amount would be $485.8 million; is that correct?

MR. KOGAN:  At Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1d, we indicate at line 4 that the hydroelectric portion is -- that we're seeking for recovery is 78.6 and the nuclear portion is 412.8.  So I get about $490 million.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, I had 485.8.  Can we use the 490 for the purposes of this --


MR. KOGAN:  Absolutely.  And just for clarity, that is over 46 months we're seeking to recover that.

MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.  I am now talking about the quantum, not the recovery of it.

MR. KOGAN:  Agreed.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, that $490 million, am I correct that if the Board grants it, as you collect that $490 million, some of it may be paid to the OEFC and some of it might not be paid to the OEFC?  There is no direct connection?

MR. HEARD:  I think that one of the things that might be causing a bit of confusion there is the tax loss variance account itself is comprised of a number of items, part of which is tax and part of which is revenues that weren't collected.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  And, therefore, the portion yesterday that Mr. Kogan was going through when he was detailing that account, the portion that was related to revenues not collected, that amount won't be provided to the OEFC.

MR. DeROSE:  And who will that amount be provided to?

MR. HEARD:  That amount would be revenues that OPG would -- would have been due that weren't collected previously.

MR. DeROSE:  So where does that money go?

MR. BARRETT:  It would ultimately flow to our net income, and then to our shareholder.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And am I right that the $490 million in the variance account is not included in your cost of service application, so -- sorry, your analysis of cost of service of what you need for the test period to operate in a safe and reliable manner?

MR. BARRETT:  It is not part of our revenue requirement, if that's what you mean.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so am I right --


MR. BARRETT:  But just to be clear, those are funds which we will use to operate our business and meet our fair return standard for our shareholder.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.  But it is not part of your revenue requirement?

MR. BARRETT:  It is not part of the revenue requirement.

MR. DeROSE:  And your revenue requirement includes an ROE for fair return; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Consistent with the Board's cost of capital report.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so to the extent that this Panel decides that that $490 million -- if they were to decide that it is a number less than $490 million, that would not affect safety and reliability of your facilities for the test period?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  This is money that should have been -- was owed to OPG in 2008, 2009, 2010.  So it allows us to, in essence, recover the revenues that we should have properly earned in those years and earn the return that we were awarded.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.  And so it is -- is it fair to say that the money is going to flow to your shareholder?  When you describe it that way, it sounds to me like this is payment for what you think was under earning during the previous test period.

MR. BARRETT:  It is a -- the intent of the variance account is to correct an acknowledged error in the previous decision and to allow us to recover the moneys that we should have properly recovered.  And where exactly that cash will ultimately end up, I certainly haven't done that analysis, but certainly if you look at the realized ROEs over those three years, you will see that we were well below the allowed returns.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So if it is not going to be -- if the Board were to approve your entire revenue requirement as applied for, you wouldn't need this money for the upcoming test period; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  Well, two things.

One, it is not part of our revenue requirement for the test period, but it will provide cash that we will use in our operations.

MR. DeROSE:  Above and beyond your revenue requirement?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. HEARD:  I think I might add that the cash being required, as Mr. Barrett has pointed out, that over the past couple of years we have not earned the return that we would have otherwise have needed to return.  So the company itself has other financing -- has financing needs and debts, existing debts, et cetera, that this money all goes towards helping finance the company.

So I think to suggest that -- would everything be rosy if the company didn't have this money, I think that would be probably unfair to portray it that way.

MR. DeROSE:  Did you incur any debt specifically related to the absence of this money during the past test year?

MR. HEARD:  I don't know that we've -- I don't think we have done an analysis to look at it in that way, but you know, as Mr. Barrett was saying, we've definitely -- have seen the impact of having a low return over the past couple of years.  And as a result of that, that impacts the cash flow that the company has, and its ability to, you know, manage its financing needs, capital needs.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I am going to just turn to one last area, and it is the Bruce lease net revenue variance account.

First of all, panel, am I correct in my understanding that the Bruce lease net revenue variance account, the amount in that account will be affected by the amount of taxes that Bruce pays?

MR. KOGAN:  Bruce as in Bruce Power?  No, it would not.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So it doesn't affect the net revenue?

MR. BARRETT:  I think the -- I think the thing that is tripping us, sir, is that you said:  "that Bruce pays."

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry.

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly, in the account is an amount for tax calculated on a GAAP basis, in respect of the Bruce's revenues and costs.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do I -- unlike Mr. Shepherd, that wants to get into the granularity of GAAP rules, from a simple approach, if you pay less tax, your revenues will generally go up; is that a fair proposition to work with?

MR. BARRETT:  All else being equal in a GAAP world, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So if you pay more tax, your revenues go down, and if you pay less tax, your revenues go up, everything else being equal?

MR. BARRETT:  In a GAAP world.  You're talking about income rather than revenues?

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry.  As I said, unlike Mr. Shepherd, I don't want to get into granularity.  I'm happy to use the word "income".

MR. BARRETT:  Your income would go up or down, all else being equal, if your taxes went up or down, in a GAAP world.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  The reason I was using "revenues" is because the Bruce lease net revenue variance account captures net revenues; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Net of costs.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do you consider income taxes as a cost?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, we do.

MR. HEARD:  Yes, we do.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In that context.

Now, as I understand it, the revenue requirement reduction ordered in EB-2007-0905 was about 342 million; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And you have recalculated the regulated portion of that tax loss at 50.3 million; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  The tax losses, the recalculation of the tax losses, pursuant to the Board's directions in its decision, is about $50 million.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. KOGAN:  Just to clarify, that is actually the revenue requirement impact of the tax losses.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.  Both are revenue requirement numbers?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  The 342 and the 50?

MR. KOGAN:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  So if we take the 50 away from the 342, I have about 292; correct?

MR. KOGAN:  Sounds good to me, as far as math is concerned.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, if the 292 had been applied on a GAAP basis to all of the income taxes associated with Bruce, because Bruce was deemed to be a non-regulated utility, if you took that 292 and applied it, what would the impact be on the Bruce lease net revenue variance account?

MR. BARRETT:  That is a very confusing question, sir, with respect.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I thought it was actually pretty simple.

MR. BARRETT:  First off, the amount you're referring to is not part of the Bruce lease variance account.  It is part of the tax loss variance account.

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.  I am saying that the Board determined that you -- there was a regulated portion of the tax loss and a non-regulated portion of the tax loss.  That is what you followed through and that is what has led to the 50 million; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  There is only a regulated portion of the tax loss.  There is -- the unregulated operations of the company's business are beyond the scope of this inquiry.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, there is 292 million in losses that you initially said was available.  If it is not on the regulated side, I think we can agree that it is available on the unregulated side, can we not?

MR. KOGAN:  First of all, are you referring to 990 -- pardon me -- because you said 290?

MR. DeROSE:  No, no.  Sorry.  We're talking revenue requirement reductions.

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MR. DeROSE:  You started with 342.  You have determined that 50 of the 342 is associated with the regulated.  342 minus 50 is 292.

MR. HEARD:  And I think the confusion there might
be -- on our part, the confusion might be just the way it is being phrased.

But arguably, the 290 is an amount that is arrived at due to a number of things that might have been originally assumed to be in the $990 million loss amount, as originally filed in the last application, and the changes that had to be made to that as a result of the Board's decision and some directions.

So in order to determine whether it would be classified as regulated or unregulated, you know, you might be able to say it is unregulated, I guess, but there was factors that we were talking about yesterday, for example, like the portions of that loss that were funded by the shareholder and not by the ratepayers.  And that, for example, related to differences in production in 2007 related to the nuclear generating facilities.

And then there was the Bruce losses, as well, in going to GAAP.  There is actually a net tax expense under GAAP, not a loss.  So that was a piece.

And there is a number of other changes, as well, that we were looking at yesterday.

So I think that is where the confusion is, if you are looking for a general statement of whether it is regulated or unregulated.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Perhaps I can ask it this way.

Is there a table that you can take me to that shows the income tax used or included in the Bruce lease net revenue variance account calculation?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, there is such a table.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Could you tell me what it is?

MR. KOGAN:  So just to be clear, you're looking for the income tax component of the Bruce lease variance account?

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.  I think it is actually a CME interrogatory.  Just one moment.

So you will need to refer to a combination of two interrogatories.

Under Issue 10.2, L-5-31, and there specifically, we were asked for the tax component of the Bruce lease variance account, and this is up to the end of 2009.

And L-5-35, under the same issue, 10.2, which deals with the forecast amount in 2010 related to income tax and the variance account.

MR. DeROSE:  How much is the amount for 2009?  Can you just put that into the record?

MR. KOGAN:  For 2009?  Or 2008 and 2009?

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, 2008 and 2009.

MR. KOGAN:  It is a credit to customers of $133.5 million.

MR. DeROSE:  That is the tax component?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And for 2010?

MR. KOGAN:  It is a credit of $4.2 million, on a forecast basis.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions, Panel.  Thank you very much, witnesses.

MR. BARRETT:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Barrett, can I follow up briefly on an exchange you had with my friend, Mr. DeRose, a few moments ago? In this context, if you could turn up his compendium of materials, which is Exhibit K9.5, and ask you to turn to tab 8, please?

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry, which tab?

MR. WARREN:  Eight, please.  As I understood your exchange with Mr. DeRose, by the time that the letter from Minister Duguid dated May 5, 2010 came to Mr. Mitchell, OPG had made what decisions it was going to make with respect to mitigation measures; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, Mr. Barrett, whether, prior to May 5, the receipt of the May 5 letter, there had been any discussions between representatives of OPG and the minister or the minister's office with respect to mitigation measures?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't believe there were.  I know that Mr. Mitchell advised the ministry that we were going to delay our application.  I am aware of that.

MR. WARREN:  And would you be aware, for example, of whether or not the minister had, prior to writing the letter of May 5, asked Mr. Mitchell or whether anybody in the minister's office had asked anybody at OPG to reassess the application with a view to reducing the impact on ratepayers?  Do you know that?

MR. BARRETT:  As far as I know, they did not.

MR. WARREN:  Would somebody else in OPG be aware of that and you might not be?

MR. BARRETT:  It is possible, but unlikely.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  The only other area that I wanted to cover with you, Mr. Barrett, and regrettably this is a matter which has been punted down the line on a number of occasions to you, and this deals with the Darlington nuclear refurbishment.

To put some context on it, if you could pull up volume 7 of the transcript, to page 11, and this will provide, I think, the necessary context.

MR. BARRETT:  If you just give us a moment?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.  Sorry, volume 7 of the transcript, page 11.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, we have that.

MR. WARREN:  The context, Mr. Barrett, is that at various times in the discussion of nuclear refurbishment there has been reference to both the IPSP and to what we - and I mean collectively - understand may be the OPA's current thinking about demand and supply.

Against that broad background, in an exchange with Mr. Reiner, Mr. Poch asked about the -- was talking about the decision to refurbish Darlington and the relationship to the IPSP.

My question to you, Mr. Barrett, from a regulatory perspective, can you tell me whether or not the decision to refurbish, or at least to go to the first phase of refurbishment, whether any reference was made to the OPA's current review of demand and supply, or was it made independent of any consideration of either the IPSP or the demand and supply analysis?

MR. BARRETT:  The decision was made with a principal focus on the merits and economics of the project, but it was made in a context of a policy environment established by the government, where they were looking to maintain nuclear as a significant component of the generation fleet.  I think the government policy statements have been to target about 50 percent of the capacity.

MR. WARREN:  Would it be fair for me, Mr. Barrett, to characterize that answer -- and, uncharacteristically, I don't want to be unfair to you.  Would it be fair for me to say, Mr. Barrett, that the decision to proceed with the refurbishment of Darlington was made regardless of the demand and supply analysis of the OPA?

MR. BARRETT:  You're talking about in the analysis that is currently under way?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  Well, it precedes that.  The decision precedes that analysis.

MR. WARREN:  The decision -- just to get the timeline right, the decision to proceed with nuclear, the refurbishment, was made when?

MR. BARRETT:  In November of last year.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  And this -- the decision to defer, for example, some of the green energy initiatives of Hydro One Networks was initially discussed in or around the same time.

Do you know if there were any discussions with the OPA -- at the time the decision was made, to refurbish Darlington, were there any discussions with the OPA about demand and supply; do you know?

MR. BARRETT:  About, sorry, their forecast of demand?

MR. WARREN:  About --


MR. BARRETT:  Or, more generally, system planning issues?

MR. WARREN:  Right.  System planning issues.

MR. BARRETT:  We periodically have discussions with the OPA about system planning issues.  I don't recollect whether or not there are ones immediately around the time where we were making the decision about Darlington refurbishment.

Certainly we were aware of the IPSP that spoke favourably about nuclear refurbishment, and the economics were attractive.

I don't recall whether the filed IPSP made specific reference to Darlington refurbishment, or not, but certainly there is a section of that plan that talks about the need to maintain nuclear as a significant component of the generation portfolio.

MR. WARREN:  Then let me get back to my question.

Is it fair for me to say the decision to proceed with at least the first phase of refurbishment at Darlington was made regardless of whatever the OPA was doing by way of demand and supply analysis?  Is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  It was made in advance of their current analysis, and it was made with a view that we expect the Darlington refurbishment to be a very good project, and whatever subsequent analysis emerges will be an analysis which incorporates that project.

MR. WARREN:  So I take it from that answer that whatever analysis flows from the current OPA thinking on demand and supply, or whatever process they're going to put in place, that you will not change the decision to proceed with the refurbishment of Darlington; is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  That is a fairly speculative question, because I don't know exactly what they're going to say.  But we do not anticipate anything coming out of the supply demand analysis which would cause us to reconsider the Darlington refurbishment decision.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that.  Those are my questions, panel.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Millar, do you want to start now and find a place to break in around 10:30.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I am in your hands, Madam Chair.  I can begin now, if that is convenient.  And around 10:30, is that when you would be looking to break?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board staff.  I would like to begin by introducing a booklet, the Staff compendium for this panel.

It is a slim 90 or so pages, but I hope to not have to take you to every page.  We will call that Exhibit K15.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K15.1:  STAFF COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS FOR OPG PANEL 10B.

MR. MILLAR:  I believe that every document in this booklet is already on the record, either through the prefiled evidence or transcript references, or, in a few cases, exhibits from previous days.

And I have to confess it is a real grab bag of issues here.  I have more than a dozen individual things to get through, many of them fairly short, I hope.  But we will be bouncing around from topic to topic, so I ask you to bear with me.

Do you have a copy of Exhibit K15.1?

MR. BARRETT:  We do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I would like to start with some questions that have been punted to this panel from panel 9, first, some questions about nuclear insurance costs.

And you will see on page 1 of the Staff booklet - and this is really just to jog your memory, I suppose - there is a table from exhibit F4, tab 4, schedule 1.  It is table 1.

Line 3, "Nuclear Insurance", we see that there is a jump from 2010 to 2011 from 8.6 to 11.3 million, and then 13.4 million in 2012.

And as we reviewed with the previous panel, the big driver behind this jump is a new piece of legislation that will increase your insurance costs; is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  That's my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is Bill C-15?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you flip to page 2 of the exhibit book, you provided an undertaking response giving us an update on where Bill C-15 stands, and it is currently in a second reading.  Is that right, at least according to this response?

MR. BARRETT:  You are looking at page 3?

MR. MILLAR:  No, page 2.

MR. BARRETT:  Oh, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then as I discussed with the previous panel, there is a bit of history to this legislation, and here we have just provided an overview of the background of the legislation. 

Without reading all of this, it has been before Parliament a number of times.  It's died on the order Paper. 

If you look down to the second highlighted portion:

“The Federal Government has been attempting to modernize Canada's nuclear liability regime for decades, but earlier attempts have met with constitutional challenge or died on the Order Paper."

Do you see that? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are also aware, of course, that we currently have a minority government in Parliament, the federal government? 

MR. BARRETT:  I am aware of that fact, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And given all of this, we suggested to the previous panel that it might be appropriate to have a variance account, given that -- at least in our view -- there may be some uncertainty whether or not this legislation actually passes. 

They thought we should ask you.  So I am asking you.  What do you think about a variance account for these expenses? 

MR. BARRETT:  I don't think that is a very good idea.

MR. MILLAR:  And why is that?

MR. BARRETT:  Really, two reasons.

The first reason is that the amount of money that we're talking about is not material, in the context of the materiality standard that the Board normally applies for variance accounts.  We're talking about, I think -- it is certainly less than $10 million over the test period.

Also, this is part of our revenue requirement on the basis that we believe that this bill will pass and these costs will be realized. 

If we're going to adopt a standard of absolute certainty around costs, then we're going to have a variance account for a very substantial portion of things that are in the revenue requirement, because there is a lot of forecasts which underpin a forward test year, and very few of those elements are 100 percent certain.  And I don't believe that should be the standard for rate setting.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, let's break that down a little.

I suppose the certainty of this bill passing is more a matter for argument.  We have it.  It is history, and it will pass or it won't, but I don't intend to debate that point with you.

On the materiality, I suppose with $7 billion total in revenue requirement, I guess something under 10 million is not a huge amount.

But you do agree it is certainly in the million dollars?  I have something -- 6- to $7 million over the test years; is that right? 

MR. BARRETT:  I would accept that number.

MR. MILLAR:  And to the extent the legislation doesn't pass you, will over-recover by that amount? 

MR. BARRETT:  In respect of this one item.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  But again, as you can appreciate, there is a lot of puts and takes in a $7-billion revenue requirement.

MR. MILLAR:  There are, but with regard to this particular item, there is no fear that you are going to under-recover your nuclear insurance costs; is that fair?

If the bill passes, you will get all of your costs?   If it doesn't pass, you will over-recover by six to seven million?

MR. BARRETT:  No, that is not true, sir.  We put forward a forecast of what our insurance costs, and if the bill passes, it may turn out the insurance costs are actually higher than our forecast. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I have your answers on that.  Thank you. 

Some questions about Pickering B continued operations. 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It might be helpful as a start to flip to page 16 of the Staff booklet.

And again, this is just to provide some of the background and the context.  I imagine you were listening in.  In fact, I think you were here for many of these days, but just to remind everyone what we're talking about.

Page 16 of the booklet is chart 2 from Exhibit F2, tab 2, schedule 3.

And you will see there is a line item for "Pickering B continued ops" and the test year amounts, if you look down a little ways, are $50.6 million in 2011, and 42.3 in 2012, for a total of around 92 million; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  I see those numbers, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And we asked some questions of Mr. Pasquet regarding these costs.

First, he advised us that there is no contingency amount included for this project.

Is that your understanding? 

MR. BARRETT:  That's my understanding of his evidence. 

MR. MILLAR:  And I asked him about that, and he indicated -- we have some transcript references that I won't take you to unless you need me to -- but essentially, he said that the company is quite confident with their forecast of the costs for this project.

Would you accept that? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I asked him:  If you are so certain about your costs for the test years, why do you need a variance account?

And I think he suggested that I should ask you, so here we are again.

Why is a variance account necessary here? 

MR. BARRETT:  A variance account exists pursuant to Regulation 53/05, so this project is captured under the variance account established in that regulation under section 6(ii)4 of that regulation. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's look at that regulation.  I have some extracts -- I have most of it, I think, copied here, or at least what I think are the relevant parts.

If you flip to page 21. 

MR. BARRETT:  I have that page, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  And we're talking, I take it, about section 6, in particular, 6(ii)4?  Is that what we should be looking at? 

MR. BARRETT:  6(ii)4 is the relevant section. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, first, I heard you say –- and frankly, I imagine everyone in this room has more experience with this regulation than I -- but I heard you say that this regulation creates a variance account or a deferral account.

Can you show me where it does that? 

MR. BARRETT:  That was the interpretation that the Board placed on the regulation in the last case.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is the result of the regulation, though the regulation itself doesn't say "variance" or "deferral account"?  Can we agree on that? 

MR. BARRETT:  It doesn't use those words in respect to this section, yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Pickering B continued operations, again, if we look at 4, what it says is:

“The Board shall ensure that OPG recovers capital and non-capital costs and firm financial commitments incurred to increase the output if, refurbish or add operating capacity to a generation facility referred to in section 2."

Then it goes on.

Can you tell me where Pickering B continued ops falls in under those listed categories?  Is it an increase of output for Pickering B? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  You will recall the project is intended to increase the output of the station from 210,000 effective full-power hours to 240,000 effective full-power hours.

MR. MILLAR:  So by "output" you mean life?  Like the life of the project, the life of Pickering B will be extended?

MR. BARRETT:  But also the output from the station will be extended. 

MR. MILLAR:  Because it is operating for a longer time?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You're not --


MR. BARRETT:  It will generate more megawatt-hours.  It will generate more output.

MR. MILLAR:  Over time?

MR. BARRETT:  Over time.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to be clear, it is not increasing the –-

MR. BARRETT:  It is not increasing the capacity.  It is increasing the output.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you. 

I will try to finish off Pickering B before we break, so just a couple of more questions on that. 

If you flip back to the chart I was referring to.

MR. BARRETT:  That's page 16? 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That's page 16.

There is actually a breakdown of the costs.  You see the base OM&A and the outage OM&A.  Those look to be about -- each of those are about a quarter of the expense?

Would you take that, subject to check? 

MR. BARRETT:  They're in that range, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I know it is your view that the reg creates the variance account, or the outcome of the regulation is to create a variance account, but --


MR. BARRETT:  That was the Board's view, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Understood. 

But are you aware of any other precedents where there would be a variance account for outage OM&A and base OM&A?  Or are you simply relying on the regulation? 

MR. BARRETT:  We are relying on the regulation, but I don't imagine there is another regulated generator in the province, so I don't imagine the Board ever turns its mind to outage OM&A, other than in the context of this proceeding.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it you haven't looked in any other jurisdiction? 

MR. BARRETT:  For regulated generation companies?  There are certainly regulated utilities which have integrated operations, including nuclear generation.  I think, as we have testified previously, there are no standalone regulated nuclear entities that we are aware of. 

MR. MILLAR:  There was a discussion with Mr. Pasquet; I think it was with Mr. Rubin.  We may want to turn it up in a second, but I think that the gist of it essentially was that there are a number of components to this project, one of which is the fuel channel life-cycle management element, but my understanding from Mr. Pasquet was that the balance of the project related to activities, day-to-day maintenance-type things that you would be conducting anyway.

And I think, hopefully, I can pull it up here.  Yes, if you look at page 19 of the booklet, this is extracted from volume 5 of the transcript, and Mr. Pasquet was being questioned by Mr. Rubin.  You will see at the top of page 23, he says:
"I would say the component which is new activity is only the fuel channel life management component, which would, I would say, would be about 10 to 20 percent of the entire package."

"The balance of the activities are things that we are currently doing today as part of maintaining the reactor, the plant."


Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  My understanding of that exchange was directed towards determining what was kind of previously untried and untested, so what was new and -- new work in that sense.  So the project, as I think we have put into the evidence, involves us doing more of certain activities as a consequence of the continued operations initiative, more maintenance, more inspections, more testing.  These are things that we have done in other contexts, but we have to do more in respect of this project.

And, also, I believe the evidence is that we are also doing things that we otherwise wouldn't do at this stage of a plant's life, if it was not for the continued operations initiative.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I suppose it is open to interpretation what he says, and you have provided some more background, but I guess he seems to be saying that this is -- aside from the fuel channel life management, this is stuff you would be doing, anyways.

MR. BARRETT:  That's not true, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  That's not true.

Madam Chair, this might be a suitable place to take the morning break.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.  We will break for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:55 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated. 

Mr. Millar, whenever you are ready.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

Panel, if I could ask you to turn to page -- skip ahead to page 54 of the Staff booklet, I have some slightly different questions relating to the Pickering B continued ops project.

Again, page 54 is from Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 2, table 2. 

Just by way of background, with regard to the Pickering B refurbishment, as opposed to the continued operations project, do I understand that OPG received a directive from the minister in 2006 to do a feasibility study?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Ultimately, you decided not to proceed with the Pickering B refurbishment; correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right. 

MR. MILLAR:  But in the context of the last proceeding, a variance account or a deferral account was created for capacity refurbishment; is that correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  That's the same 6(ii)4 account we were discussing previously?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  What's the name of that account? 

MR. BARRETT:  I think it is called the capacity refurbishment variance account.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, with respect to the Pickering B continued operations, I understand there was no specific direction from the minister regarding that project?  That is something that OPG decided to do; is that correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry, could you restate that question, sir?

MR. MILLAR:  The continued operations project as oppose to the refurbishment, my understanding is that there is no ministerial directive with regard to that, but instead that is something that OPG determined was appropriate?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  But that decision was subsequently endorsed by the minister, and there is a letter to that effect that I can take you to.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't think that is necessary, and I am aware of the letter.  But my point is it wasn't a directive like the refurbishment?

MR. BARRETT:  No, as far as I am aware. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, if we look at this table, at page 54, you have the Pickering B continued operations at line 9, and I think again at line 14. 

It shows balances for 2009 and 2010?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Those total about 18 million and a bit for the two years?

I think I have an idea of what your answer will be, but to set the background, I take it that the Pickering B continued operations project was not part of your previous application?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  That was something you determined to do later?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So the Board would not have heard of that project at that time? 

MR. BARRETT:  It was not part of that application.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So to the extent the capacity refurbishment variance account was created, it did not specifically anticipate that Pickering B continued operations moneys would go in there?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is fair. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again, I have an idea of what your answer will be.  Why is it that you think you can put those amounts in that variance account, when the Board didn't create it for that purpose? 

MR. BARRETT:  It falls, the continued operations project falls within the definition of the variance account as per Regulation 53/05. 

MR. MILLAR:  It is not a refurbishment; is that correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  Continued operations is not a refurbishment, yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  So you are not troubled by the fact that the account is specifically for refurbishment? 

MR. BARRETT:  The account, as --


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Millar, the account and its description are set out in appendix F, page 5 of 7 of the Board's prior decision.  And yes, it is called a capacity refurbishment variance account, but the full description of the account can be found there, if you wish to put it to the witness.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  If we look at 2009, I see an entry of just under $5 million; is that right? 

MR. BARRETT:  I will ask Mr. Kogan to deal with the specifics of that table. 

MR. KOGAN:  For which line item?  For the account in total?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  Pickering B continued operations and the total –- sorry, no, the Pickering B continued operations at line 9, for 2009 there is an entry for $4.8 million?

MR. KOGAN:  Actually the entry is at line 14, but it is at $4.8 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I understand your own board approved this project as part of the nuclear business plan, and that that didn't happen until late in 2009; is that correct? 

MR. KOGAN:  Sorry, could you restate the question? 

MR. MILLAR:  Well, maybe my understanding is wrong, but let me put it to you this way.

When did OPG's board approve this project? 

MR. BARRETT:  In November of last year? 

MR. MILLAR:  Of 2009? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So how did you manage to spend $5 million over the last month or two of 2009? 

MR. KOGAN:  I think that that is a question that would have been more relevant put to the panel dealing with continued operations. 

MR. MILLAR:  So you don't personally know? 

MR. KOGAN:  No, I do not. 

MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to know if work started on the project prior to approval from OPG's board of directors?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't know that, sir. 

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. DeRose asked you some questions about the nuclear fuel cost variance account, and indeed, he helpfully took some of my questions on this, but I did have a couple of additional follow-ups.

I might ask you to turn to page 41 of the Staff booklet. 

The witnesses may recall there was an exchange between Ms. Chaplin and Mr. Mauti regarding the existence of the variance account, and the extent to which this transferred risk to ratepayers.

If you look at page 41 -- and this is page 110 from the transcript -- Ms. Chaplin asks:

“I am wondering, on the assumption that the procurement is prudent and is found to be prudent, isn't it the case that the result of the operation of the deferral and variance accounts will be that ratepayers bear the market price risk?"

And Mr. Mauti responds:

“The ratepayers would bear the risk, whether that is positive or negative, to what our forecasts could be."

And then if you skip ahead to the next page, page 42, at about line 19, he says -- and perhaps you can provide some assistance -- he says:

“I'm sure our variance and deferral account panel can maybe talk about the appropriateness of the account, as well, going forward."

So, Mr. Barrett or other members of the panel, you have seen the transcript, and indeed, you may have been in the room when the exchange took place.

Do you have anything to add from what Mr. Mauti provided Ms. Chaplin when she questioned him on that day? 

MR. BARRETT:  In respect of any particular point? 

MR. MILLAR:  Well, whether or not it is appropriate to transfer the risk to ratepayers, as Mr. Mauti indicated?

MR. BARRETT:  If the Board finds what we're doing to be prudent, then the consequences that would flow from those prudent actions should be recovered from ratepayers. 

MR. MILLAR:  I think that feeds into my next question a little bit.

If you flip back to page 25 of the booklet, again, this is another transcript reference.  You may recall I was asking Mr. Mauti about whether or not the company has any incentive to lower its nuclear fuel costs, given that the variance account more or less ensures that the actual costs paid will be passed on to ratepayers. 

And if you skip to page 26, he provides an answer.  He says, starting at line 4, that you have a dedicated and professional group and that they do their best.

And I don't take any issue with that, but I think -- I think he also may have suggested you may provide further answers to this.  I don't know if I can pull that up, but let me put the question to you to see if you have anything to add to that.

I am not sure if he answered the question as to whether or not there is any incentive to reduce nuclear fuel costs with the deferral and variance account set up as they currently are.  Do you have a view on that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  And there was actually an interrogatory with this very question, which we can turn to if you'd like.

I would say there is three things which drive us in terms of our prudent management of nuclear fuel costs.  One is the oversight and directions that you see in the business planning process, through Mr. Halperin and others, where we're trying to drive efficiencies and cost savings in the business.

As Mr. Mauti indicated here, we have a dedicated, very experienced fuel group who are looking to execute our fuel procurement strategy, and part of that is consideration of the costs.

Finally, we know that we are going to be before this Board both on a forecast basis and with respect to reviewing the balance in the nuclear fuel variance account, and we know that we're going to have to demonstrate that those costs are prudent in order to recover them and that we are at risk if we cannot meet that test.

All of those are incentives around the nuclear fuel cost issue.

MR. MILLAR:  There was a discussion with -- I can't remember if it was panel 1 or 2, but OPG gets -- I forget what it is called precisely, but you get an incentive for using your pump storage -- pump storage facility?

MR. BARRETT:  The hydroelectric incentive mechanism.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  There were some questions about that that you may recall - I think you were in the room - essentially saying, Well, shouldn't you just be using this, anyways?  Isn't that what your people are there for?

And the response, subject to check from the witness, was, Well, that's true, but whenever you have an incentive, there is additional incentive, if I can put it that way, to maximize the output of that station.

Is there any parallel to be drawn there with this type of situation?

MR. SMITH:  Well, that wasn't quite the evidence, that they would operate the PGS in precisely the same manner absent the incentive.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, Mr. Smith, that was or --


MR. SMITH:  It was not the evidence that they would operate the PGS in precisely the same manner, whether or not they had the incentive.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I agree.  So I think what they were saying is the incentive led to changes in the way they used the pump generating station, and I realize that is an entirely different topic.  But it seems that at least in some cases, OPG agrees that an incentive may drive better performance.

And I am wondering whether this might be a case where that is appropriate?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is a general principle that I would ascribe to.  As I said, there are a lot of incentives or drivers around our nuclear fuels, some of which are business drivers, some of which are regulatory drivers.

Are you suggesting that we should be proposing some kind of incremental incentive mechanism around fuel procurement?

MR. MILLAR:  Well, possibly.  Let's imagine there was an incentive whereby, to the extent you under-forecast costs, you only recovered 50 percent of that.  That would be an incentive, I assume.  Whether or not it would actually change anything, presumably that would be an incentive to encourage the company to do its very best to reduce fuel costs.

I say this because you asked for a possible example.

MR. BARRETT:  Any incentive around the nuclear fuel procurement process -- and, again, just to be clear, we are not proposing one.  We think that the process and strategies that we have in place are appropriate and reasonable.

But any incentive mechanism would need to balance all of the aspects around our fuel procurement strategy and not just focus solely on costs.

There are issues around security of supply and having a balance of supply from various suppliers, a number of other things that Mr. Mauti spoke to, that underpin how we approach nuclear fuel procurement.

MR. MILLAR:  One more set of questions on this area.  If I could ask you to turn to page 40 of the booklet, this is another exchange that the company had with Ms. Chaplin.  It is from volume 5 of the transcript, page 109.

Just to provide the background, the reason there had been questions about this is because I think OPG entered some contracts at a time that, in hindsight, it turned out prices were high.  So there were some questions about the strategy that OPG had employed.

If you look at line 17, Ms. Chaplin asks -- pardon me, line 18:
"...have you commissioned any external analysis of your strategy and review of the success?"

And Mr. Mauti says:
"I don't believe we have, no."

MR. BARRETT:  I see that.  Just while we are on that point, there is an undertaking we have around providing documentation around our nuclear fuel procurement strategy, and I have seen that undertaking in draft and I don't know whether it has been filed or not.

But one of the things that is in that undertaking is, when we went back and looked at our documentation and records, we found that there had been an independent analysis of our strategy several years ago, a time which predates Mr. Mauti's involvement in the nuclear fuel area, and that is the reason he wasn't aware of the study.

And we're providing that assessment as part of the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  What undertaking is that?

MR. BARRETT:  Ms. Reuber might know.  I don't recall the number.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it it hasn't been filed yet?

MR. BARRETT:  I'm not certain.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, Mr. Smith, can you confirm that?

MR. SMITH:  It has not been filed yet.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there is a study and you will be filing the study with that undertaking response?

MR. BARRETT:  We will.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to summarize the conclusions of the study right now?

MR. BARRETT:  My recollection of it - and this is from some days ago - was that it generally endorsed our approach.  There were some recommendations, I believe, where they thought there might be grounds for marginal improvements or marginal changes, and I think we tried to respect those recommendations where we thought it was sensible and prudent.

MR. MILLAR:  Will that be described in the undertaking response, as well, whatever changes or activities you undertook in response to that report?

MR. BARRETT:  That is starting to get beyond the bounds of my recollection, but certainly all of the documentation that we think is relevant and appropriate will be provided, plus a cover page which tries to provide a narrative around it.

MR. SMITH:  I believe there is some evidence already in the record in that respect, but maybe the easier thing to do is just to incorporate it into the answer to the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I guess we will look forward to that response.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, I am not sure what we just -- I am very interested in knowing what actions were taken in response to the recommendations.  So will the undertaking response specifically address that?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, it will.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I am going to move on to a new area.

Could you please turn to page 48 of the Staff booklet?  I have a few questions about the Bruce lease net revenue variance account.  And you will see page 48 is from Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1.

If you look down to line 15, you see the Bruce lease net revenue variance, and the amount for recovery in 2010 is $296.6 million; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  And I will ask Mr. Kogan to speak to the specifics.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And as I look through the list of proposed recoveries for 2010, that's the second-highest amount; is that right?  I see that the tax loss variance is higher, but otherwise that is the biggest number there?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, subject to the caveat that the tax loss variance account is actually being recovered over 46 months.  So if you do the math over the test period, I am not sure which amount would work out to be higher.

MR. MILLAR:  Indeed, you have anticipated my questions on that.

For the Bruce lease net revenue variance, you are proposing to recover that over 22 months; is that correct?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the tax loss variance account you are proposing to recover over 46 months?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And in a previous proceeding, you had a Pickering A return to service deferral account; is that right?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, and we continue to have that account as we amortize it.

MR. MILLAR:  Indeed, it is at line 8 on page 48.  The year end balance of 2007 was $183.8 million?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that the Board approved a recovery period of 45 months for that account? 

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that's correct, for the 2007 ending balance.

MR. MILLAR:  It seems from this that the standard appears to be for significant balances that you tend to look at a longer period of recovery. 

My question is:  Why is the recovery period for the Bruce lease net revenue variance significantly shorter than the recovery period for those two other accounts?

MR. KOGAN:  I will let Mr. Barrett comment on the latter part of your question.  I think we actually had an interrogatory that dealt with that. 

But I just wanted to point out that I don't think the opening statement of your question is quite correct. 

The amortization period for the parts account was set by the Board in the last proceeding at 45 months.  Our original proposal was, in fact, a longer period, but that was largely because we were using the guidelines in the regulation that said that the balance was not due to be recovered, I believe, over more than 15 years. 

And since it was a long-lived asset, we were trying to -- we thought that it made sense to propose a longer period.

So the standard is not driven by the balance in the account. 

MR. MILLAR:  For the parts account?  For the Pickering A return-to-service?

MR. KOGAN:  Right.  I am just pointing out that drawing the parallel in terms of the magnitude of the accounts is not really a relevant one.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, it may not be relevant for the Pickering A return-to-service, but that was the reason for the extended recovery period on the tax loss variance; is that correct, Mr. Barrett?

MR. BARRETT:  If I could just recap the history of this, as we originally envisioned the application and discussed it at the stakeholder sessions at the end of March and early April, all of the variance accounts were going to be recovered over the 24-month test period.

So there were none of the account balances were going to be recovered over an extended period. 

It was only later, when OPG senior management decided to delay the filing of the application and do what we could, in the context of the deferral and variance account recoveries, to lessen the impact on customers that we made the switch for the tax loss variance account.

And we didn't extend the term of any of the other accounts, because once we had extended the tax loss variance account, we were now in a position to be filing an application that had an increase of 6.2 percent, only half of which really was related to base rates.

The other half of that increase related to the recovery of the deferral and variance account balances.

The total of all of the claims that we were making was only going to have a fairly modest impact on residential bills, in the order of, I believe, 1.7 percent.  And we thought, at that level, that no further extension of deferral and variance account balances was necessary. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That is helpful.  Thank you. 

Did you just pick tax loss variance because it was the biggest number?  Is that why you chose that one? 

MR. BARRETT:  There was no magic, other than it was the largest balance.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you. 

Sticking with this chart, I want to compare this with a number of other charts in the application, because some numbers don't appear to match up.  And I would just like to get on the record either why that is or which is the correct number.

So again, if we look still at page 48, the capacity refurbishment variance account, that is at line 13, and we see a balance proposed for recovery of negative $1.3 million; is that correct? 

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  And if you could skip ahead to page 54 -- you might want to keep your finger on this page as well.  I apologize these aren't right beside each other. 

And at page 54, we see Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 2, table 2. 

I understand that this is the detailed breakout of that same number we were just discussing. 

But the total we see here is $3.1 million.  First, can you confirm that we're talking about the same thing here?  And if so, could you explain why the numbers don't match?

MR. KOGAN:  No, actually that table -- the sub-table that you are looking at, at your page 40 – pardon me...

MR. MILLAR:  54?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  At your page 54 is not a sub-table to the amounts that you are seeing on page 48.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we shouldn't expect those numbers to match? 

MR. KOGAN:  No, you wouldn't, because table 1 to H1, tab 1, schedule 2 on your page 48 represents a summary of our view based on year-to-date experience where we think the 2010 balances will be. 

And the subsequent tables to H1, tab 1, schedule 2, including the one on your page 54, simply highlight some of the changes in adjustments and inadvertent omissions -- corrections to inadvertent omissions that we had to make to some of our account balances.  And I think Mr. Barrett testified to that yesterday. 

So the "2010" column on page 54 does not reflect the updated forecast based on year-to-date experience that you see summarized in table 1 of that exhibit. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think I understand that, but maybe I will go to the next example because I think that will be a little bit more clear.

Back at page 48, under line 14 you see the nuclear fuel cost variance, and you skip across, the amount proposed for recovery is $9.3 million? 

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if we go -- I think it will be page 55 this time.  Again, this time it says:  "Nuclear fuel cost variance."  So it appears we're talking, at least, about the same issue.

And again, the numbers don't match up.  I get $6.7 million for 2010.

So I think maybe it is the same answer, but can you run that by me once again?  Why don't these numbers match? 

MR. KOGAN:  When we filed H1, tab 1, schedule 2, that evidence did a number of things. 

One of the things it did is it highlighted some of the adjustments, including some corrections, that we were making to the balance as previously filed.  And they primarily actually affected 2008 and 2009. 

In fact, I believe they are -- the changed values are in shaded cells. 

MR. MILLAR:  Ah.

MR. KOGAN:  So you can see, for example, on table 3 on page 55, we had corrected the generation figure, and that obviously flows through to the bottom line at line 8 in the calculation.

What we didn't do on these sub-tables is, in 2010, we did not update that to reflect the actual year-to-date experience.  So that is still our original forecast. 

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, this tables 2 through 4 are the original forecasts?  Table --


MR. KOGAN:  Correct.  Correct.  They have only been updated for what I would call corrections and adjustments, just to illustrate very clearly what those are. 

MR. MILLAR:  And what is different about table 1? 

MR. KOGAN:  And table 1 incorporates not just some of these corrections and adjustments, but it also incorporates our updated view of the 2010 balances at year-end, based on actual experience to date. 

MR. MILLAR:  So perhaps if my short question is which number is the correct one for the purposes of this application, I take it the answer is table 1? 

MR. KOGAN:  Table 1 is the most up-to-date number, but I believe our amended clearance proposal calls for clearance of actual balances at the end of 2010. 

MR. BARRETT:  As audited by our auditors.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.  So these numbers, table 1 is your best guesstimate to date, but that will be updated as part of your proposal?

MR. BARRETT:  There may be small changes.  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I had similar question for the Bruce lease net revenue variance account where the numbers didn't match.  I assume it is the same answer, though, with table 4 versus table 1? 

MR. KOGAN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you. 

I think on a similar point, you might want to flip to page 57.

And this is what you were just referencing, Mr. Barrett, I believe, your intention to file audited financial statements to support the recovery of the deferral and variance account balances?

MR. BARRETT:  Not audited financial statements, but we intend to file the audited balances in the deferral and variance accounts.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.  Thank you for that.  The audited balances.

And you anticipate those will be ready by early February 2011? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you given any thought -- I guess it is not exactly clear where the Board will be in its decision-making process.  It is possible the Board will be either very close or possibly even be in a position to release the decision by that time, or before that time. 

I guess would it be your suggestion that the Board would have to wait to receive these balances, prior to issuing its decision? 

MR. BARRETT:  No.  That is not our proposal. 

Our proposal is to use these audited balances as part of the rate order finalization process. 

So the Board -- as we envision things, the Board would issue its decision giving specific direction as to the disposition of the various deferral and variance account balances.  And we would, in preparing our payments amounts order, reflect those dispositions and incorporate and file supporting documentation about the audited balances in that account.

So, for example, let's say that the auditor said that the account had $100 in it based on the year end audit and the Board in its disposition decision had said, We think that that account is overstated by five dollars.  So we would have -- start with the $100, would reflect the Board's decision about the five dollars, and the payment amounts order would reflect recovery of $95.

And all of that would be supported by working papers and the auditor's report, when we file our draft rate order.

MR. MILLAR:  I am not sure I quite followed that.  You suggested the Board would make a decision based on the audited numbers?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  The Board would make its decision based on the information that is in the current filing, which is our forecast of where the 2010 year end balances would be.

So, for example, let's say that the Board decided on some basis that one of the balances was overstated by five dollars, just to use a simple example.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  If our auditors determined that the actual audited balance was $100, you would start with the 100.  You would take off five.  You would flow through 95 into the payment amounts order.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand what you're saying.  The outcome of this is that when the Board makes its decision, obviously it may not have the audited numbers?

MR. BARRETT:  I expect that it would not.  But we are not expecting any material change between now and the end of the year.

MR. MILLAR:  To the extent there were any concerns about the audited balances, would it be possible to review those through the payment order process?

MR. BARRETT:  That would be our proposal, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If the accounts are -- I assume you will file the audited balances as soon as you have them?

MR. BARRETT:  If that would be helpful, sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, what's your proposal?  Is your proposal to file it as soon as you have it or after the Board issues its decision?

MR. BARRETT:  Our proposal was to file it as part of the rate order finalization process with supporting working papers showing how the audited balances -- the Board's decision got reflected in the draft rate order, so make it an integrated whole.

MR. MILLAR:  You wouldn't be -- if the Board wanted it, you wouldn't be opposed to filing it as soon as you got it, possibly in advance of the decision?

MR. BARRETT:  If it would be helpful to the Board, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  I understand the interest rates reflected in your deferral and variance account balance, it is currently the Board's published interest rate for July 1st, 2010; is that right?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.  The rates that are reflected in our updated balances, H1-T1, schedule 2, table 1, assume 0.89 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  And as we have just discussed, you will be filing the audited actual account balances in approximately early February.

Do I understand that these account balances will include interest on the accounts up to the end of February 2011 or for some portion of 2011?

MR. KOGAN:  No, they would not.  They would only be balances as at December 31, 2010, and, therefore, they would only include interest up until that point.

MR. MILLAR:  There is no need to update the interest amount for 2011, because you are not including interest for the time period?

MR. KOGAN:  The interest for 2011 is not relevant.  What we will do is we will use the actual interest rates for the third and fourth quarters prescribed by the Board.  I believe it actually changed to 1.2 percent for the fourth quarter, so we will reflect that in our actual 2010 balances.

MR. BARRETT:  Just to be clear, what we're proposing to clear is the December 31, 2010 balances.

MR. MILLAR:  Nothing from 2011?  There would be no balances from 2011?

MR. BARRETT:  There would be no balances from 2011, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could you turn to page 59, please?

MR. KOGAN:  We have that.

MR. MILLAR:  This is from Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 137.  It is a chart attached to an interrogatory response.  The chart is called "Reconciliation of Variance and Deferral Account Balances to Financial Statements as at December 31, 2008 and 2009".  Do you see that?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  You are going to do additional audited balances for 2010; is that correct?  That is what we have just heard, that it will be filed in February?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  At that time, would it be possible to extend this chart to include 2010?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't think an undertaking is necessarily appropriate, because you wouldn't be able to get this to us, but could we ask you to file this as part of filing the updated financial statements -- pardon me, the audited balances?

MR. KOGAN:  Certainly, as part of the integrated whole that Mr. Barrett alluded to.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much.

Okay, let's turn to page 60, please, some questions about the Bruce lease net revenue variance account.

I understand that -- this is a Staff IR that we pulled up on page 60, Staff IR 143.  But just to provide a bit of background, for the Bruce lease net revenue variance account, I understand there is two stub periods for that account for 2008, in that the account didn't come into effect until April 1st, 2008; is that correct?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So there is a January to March stub, and then the April to December part, which would flow into the variance account.  Have I got that right?

MR. KOGAN:  That's right.  The last nine months are subject to the variance account.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, if you look to page 63, this is Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 10a.

Before I ask questions about this, I understand that there have actually been some -- some of the numbers to this chart have been updated; is that correct?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.  Are you referring to H1, tab 1, schedule -- actually, no, I apologize for that.

I think we filed a correction, and that you're looking at that corrected version, on September 16th.  Are you suggesting there is a further --


MR. MILLAR:  No.  Okay.  So the version I have in front of me, is this the most -- this is the up-to-date and corrected version of that table?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.  That's the most up-to-date version in the evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there are no additional adjustments to any of these numbers, at least currently?

MR. KOGAN:  No, just subject to 2010 still being a forecast as per our business plan and not consistent with our August updates.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I just wanted to make sure we were looking at the right numbers.

I have a few questions - we will see where we get with this - on how you allocated amounts to the two stub periods.

And I understand, if we look at the numbers themselves, many of them - certainly not all, but many of them - are split sort of on a 75/25 basis, or more or less that, for example, depreciation, capital tax, accretion.  Would you agree that the split there is more or less 25/75?

MR. KOGAN:  I would agree that that's correct, that that's approximately the split, but that is a function of the fact that items like depreciation and accretion are incurred relatively on a straight-line basis throughout the year.

So as indicated in response to part (a), we used actual monthly amounts.  But they do happen to look like they're relatively even.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I have some questions about line 8, the earnings or losses on segregated funds.  In this case, you have 21.8 million allocated to January to March, and then 162.2 allocated to the balance of the year.

Subject to check, would you take it that that is about a -- about 88 percent of it is allocated to the variance account, as opposed to the previous stub?

MR. KOGAN:  I just take issue with the word "allocated", as I indicated.  And, again, you can go back in that interrogatory L-1-143 in response to part (a), line 8 in the table.  It states that we use actual monthly amounts per accounting records.

So this is not an allocation.  These are actual amounts as they were earned or incurred, depending if they're earnings or losses during the two periods, 2008.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, and, indeed, if you look above line 8 - this is on page 60 of the booklet - you say it is the actual monthly expenses in all of them.  Maybe you have already answered this, but many of the other ones turned out 75/25, and I guess I heard your answer on this, and it is that is just the way it turned out?

MR. KOGAN:  Absolutely, because the seg fund earnings are a function of the performance of the market, so I would not expect that to be straight line, but depreciation and accretion in their nature would be more even.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again, just to get your evidence clear, these are actual numbers?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Including for line 8?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Am I right –- frankly, I don't understand this issue very well, so I will rely on you to do your best to help me with this -- but I understand that the losses on the segregated funds are a result of the fund's performance for 2008; is that fair?  The fund didn't perform well in 2008, so there are losses?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I understand that OPG did not actually suffer a financial loss, in that there were no cash flow impacts for OPG resulting from this; is that fair?

For example, they didn't make a top-up payment or anything of that nature?

MR. KOGAN:  No.  There were no changes to contribution, but certainly our earnings were affected as far as our income is concerned. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The fund recovered substantially since 2008; is that fair? 

MR. KOGAN:  Generally, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am sure you have an answer for this, but I don't quite understand it. 

Why are ratepayers being asked to make what I will classify as a top-up payment to the fund, when OPG didn't incur that expense itself? 

MR. KOGAN:  I wouldn't characterize it that way.

OPG did incur the cost of losses.  It is a loss in accordance with GAAP.  It is an expense.  It is a cost recognized in our financial statements. 

And we're following the Board's direction to calculate net earnings from Bruce, including specifically segregated fund earnings on a GAAP basis. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I have your answer.  Thank you for that.

I am going to move to another area, Harmonized Sales Tax.  And I think the best place to start here would be page 64 of Staff's booklet.

MR. BARRETT:  We are there.

MR. MILLAR:  This is taken directly from the application, Exhibit F4, tab 2, schedule 1, and I've got page 24.

Can you confirm for me that, at least as the application was originally filed, if you look at line 12, it states:

“The net cost reductions related to HST are forecast to be relatively small, at less than approximately $5 million."

Is that right?  That's what the application said? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes, although we updated that estimate of how much was incorporated in the Undertaking JT1.9 -- which you have handed out to us here on page 67 -- to $6 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  And I apologize for the confusion on that.  Really, it was because it was an estimate.  During the budget process, the people who would have been making budgets, et cetera, for costs, it would have been told about or explained about the rules, and therefore, they would have incorporated the savings into their business plans, et cetera.

So this was an estimate of how much savings were included in those business plans.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  And we will get there in just a second.

If you could flip to page 65 of the booklet, which is taken from page 116 of the Technical Conference transcript, indeed, you already provided something of an update here at line 15.  You state that:

“We do estimate that the savings for the month of July are relatively small, at approximately $570,000."
Do you see that? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you go ahead to page 67, we get the undertaking you were just discussing, JT1.9, where you provide a revised estimate of $6 million? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes, I see that.

MR. MILLAR:  So the July amount being $570,000, I mean, if you analyze that on a straight-line basis, you get about $6.8 million; is that right? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And why is the estimate $6 million, as opposed to closer to seven? 

MR. HEARD:  The impact of HST -- I should say the basis of this answer comes in looking at what makes up the savings for OPG, and the savings is really comprised of not having to pay PST on certain items where we had to before, and it's offset by some additional costs that happen that OPG is going to incur.  And basically, those costs relate to energy consumed for non-production purposes, where under the transition rules for HST, we are not allowed to recover the HST that we pay.

So for example, on our head office building at 700 University, OPG isn't allowed to recover the HST on the electricity consumed for that building. 

And so the sort of flow or monthly flow is somewhat impacted by the timing of electricity bills that we would have to pay. 

MR. MILLAR:  Why is July higher than the average? 

MR. HEARD:  I am not sure that I have a great answer, other than the one I already provided.  But I don't really have any more details than that, but other than to just say that it would be affected by the timing of when purchases were made in business plans, and the timing of electricity consumption. 

So for example, just as an example, if we had air-conditioning or something like that high in one month, you might –- we might have to pay -- there might be higher costs to it.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand that you filed HST returns for the month of July, August, and September by now?

MR. HEARD:  That's probably true, yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Have you looked at the August or September numbers?  Do you know what –-

MR. HEARD:  I personally have not. 

MR. MILLAR:  Would that be something you would be able to do? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes, I could.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could you provide us -- would you have filed anything past September, or would that be the last filing? 

MR. HEARD:  Probably the last filing as of right now.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't I put the undertaking this way?  If you could file with us all the HST returns that you have from July onwards. 

MR. HEARD:  As I am thinking about that, I'm reminded by Mr. Barrett that the HST returns that you would see would be for the company as a whole, and therefore they probably wouldn't be very meaningful, in the sense that our head office building, for example, is covered by employees working in the regulated business and the unregulated business.

MR. MILLAR:  Well how did you get the estimate of 570,000? 

MR. HEARD:  It was an estimate based on looking at the type of purchases we make, and it may have even been referring to -- it may have even had an allocation factor. 

MR. MILLAR:  Could you perform a similar allocation for August and September? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes, we could.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So could I include that as part of the undertaking? 

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  That would probably be more meaningful than showing you the actual returns.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I agree.

We will call that Undertaking J15.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J15.1:  to PROVIDE HST RETURNS FILED FROM JULY 2010 ONWARD, WITH ALLOCATION FACTOR FOR REGULATED AND UNREGULATED COMPONENTS.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess whatever those numbers show, obviously, I can't question you on those now.  I guess parties will make whatever they will of the updated numbers in determining what the appropriate savings from HST would be.

MR. SMITH:  I guess I am just -- this is the 114th undertaking we have given, and it is now down to $800,000.  Of course, we can do it.  If the Board wants the information, we will provide it.

But in -- I don't want to make more of this than it is.  It just it seems to me we are definitely not talking about a material amount of money, much as I might like the money myself. 

MR. MILLAR:  Indeed, if they don't want to file the undertaking, we would use $570,000 as the best number, but I am in your hands, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, on the basis that it is easy to get and they volunteered to do it, I think we will take it. 

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

Some questions on possible filing requirements.  It might be helpful here to turn to page 75 of the booklet.  This is Staff Interrogatory 149, Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 149.

MR. BARRETT:  We have that. 

MR. MILLAR:  My first question -- we asked you about a number of things that you might either agree to file on an annual basis, or be opposed to.  I shouldn't say annual basis.  On a routine basis, something similar to the RRR.

I think from your response here, if I understand correctly, you agreed that there are some things you can do with relative ease.  And I would like to run through the checklist of the ones I think you have agreed to before we get into the other ones. 

MR. BARRETT:  Fair enough.

MR. MILLAR:  So if I understand, you have agreed that either you will or you can relatively easily file the following information. 

One, the deferral and variance account balances within -- pardon me, deferral and variance accounts within 60 days after calendar quarter end.  You can file that? 

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, provided that it is understood that they're not audited. 

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  The MD&A and financial statements as filed with the OSC within 60 days for the first three quarters, and with 120 days for December year-end statements as long as the OSC requires these documents to be filed? 

MR. KOGAN:  Within the stated -- as long as it is required within the stated time frames, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Third, nuclear unit capability factor and hydroelectric availability for the regulated facilities within 60 days for the first three quarters and within 120 days for December year end?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, as reported in our quarterly and annual MD&A.

MR. MILLAR:  Fourth, head count and FTE information, similar to the presentation in Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1, chart 1.  And, I apologize, I don't think I actually provided that, but maybe the shorter question is head count and FTE information?

MR. KOGAN:  In the same manner as presented in F4-T3-S1, chart 1, I think -- and I am hesitating, because certain information would be on an FTE basis and certain information would be on a head count basis.

And it is possible that that table -- I am not sure if it uses head count or FTE.  So I think as long as it is understood it is in the same format, same basis.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe without debating this, I think we asked you that, and your answer to that question is -- I think it is on page 4 of the undertaking, or page 78.

MR. SMITH:  Bottom of page 4.

MR. KOGAN:  I see that.  I just wanted to be clear on that.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fine.

MR. KOGAN:  Thank you.  Yes, agreed.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Fifth, capital in-service additions --


MR. SMITH:  Just so the record is clear, I don't think it is FTE.  It is head count.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you can only provide head count information?  The question asks about FTE, and then the response is for head count.  So are you able to provide both FTE and head count, or just head count?

MR. KOGAN:  I think this response refers to head count, and I think it has been discussed previously in the hearing that that is how we generally gather and track information for historic periods.  So we would propose to file head count.

MR. MILLAR:  There actually was a lot of talk about head count and FTE, as you may have heard, and the difference between the two, and whether and how and when the numbers are calculated.

But my short question would be, to the extent you can answer:  Can you provide the information for FTEs, or only for head count?

MR. KOGAN:  Sitting here today, I can only answer to head count.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Smith, are you able to help?

MR. SMITH:  I am being told that we can't provide the FTE answer, the FTE information, and there was some thought to this at the time that the interrogatory was filed.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

The fifth item that I think you have agreed you can file is capital in-service additions and construction work in progress by April 30th; is that right?  I think that is on page 5.

MR. KOGAN:  Sorry, I am just looking over the response.

I think we have stated that there is -- some further clarification would be required specifically as to -- as to what we would agree to file, because the question was posed fairly generally.  So I think we gave a general response, subject to several caveats here.

So I think generally the answer is "yes", but our thinking at the time would have been that the details would be worked out with Board Staff.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't want to dwell on this, because I think these are things that generally we agree on.

Are there specific details that you can tell us that you need - you said subject to further clarification on the details - or is this something you propose to work --


MR. KOGAN:  We would make a proposal.

MR. MILLAR:  So the general answer is, yes, subject to certain -- ironing out a few issues?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think those are the things we essentially agree on.

Now to look at things that maybe we don't agree on.  We asked you in, I think it is item (c) Roman numeral (i), if you could provide audited financial statements for the prescribed facilities, and you gave a fairly lengthy response to that, but I think it is fair to say the short answer is "no".

If I have summarized it correctly, you explained a few things.  One, the information is very difficult to prepare and that your systems may not be set up to extract that, and then you also have a concern that the information is probably not particularly helpful, in any event.

Is that a fair summary of your response?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, that is a fair summary.  And certainly I can speak from personal experience, having been involved with the preparation of those statements, that it is a very laborious manual process, with a lot of allocations required, and at the end we found a lot of the areas that required allocation are not areas where it would be relevant to the revenue requirement, I think as it describes here, working capital items, income tax and so on, that are determined on a different basis for regulatory purposes.

MR. MILLAR:  I think you have described those in your answer.

MR. BARRETT:  I would also observe that as far as I can recollect, there has been no reference in this entire proceeding to those prescribed financial statements.  So, again, that reinforces our own view that they did not provide much utility to this process.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  You did provide them for this proceeding, as we have -- as you just stated?

MR. BARRETT:  We were directed to, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But you did it?

MR. BARRETT:  We followed the Board's directions, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So the answer is "yes"?

MR. BARRETT:  We did file them.

MR. MILLAR:  I won't be able to pull up the number right now, but it is probably from page 4.

A significant amount of resources and costs to do that?  Here it is at the top of page 4.  $400,000 to prepare that, plus a lot of hassle; is that correct?

MR. KOGAN:  That's very fair.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it be easier to do it the second time around?

MR. KOGAN:  I would say very, very -- it would be only a very incremental benefit to us having gone through it once, because, unfortunately, no systems have been modified and we would still have to go through the allocation processes.  And to the extent that there are new items or new accounts, in fact, it could actually increase the work load.

So I would not think that there is significant economies of scale to be gained or economies of experience.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, was there more?

MR. KOGAN:  Or, I said, economies of experience, if you wish.

MR. MILLAR:  As I understand it, and I am not sure you do, but can you confirm for me that as part of the RRR requirements, which I know you are not subject to, but this is the type of information that other utilities are required to file?  Are you aware of that?

MR. BARRETT:  You're referring to prescribed financial statements?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is generally true.

Most of those, if not all of those other companies are entirely regulated.  And I think that is the important distinction.

MR. MILLAR:  What about Hydro One?

MR. BARRETT:  It is entirely regulated, in two regulated divisions.

MR. KOGAN:  On the Hydro One issue, I am speculating, but I think the Board in its last decision probably had Hydro One in mind when it made a comment that other utilities, such as OPG, file these sort of segregated-type financial statements not on a legal entity basis.

And the distinction is that Hydro One, when it was originally set up as a company, it was set up -- their transmission and distribution business, my understanding, were set up to run on -- they were set up as almost separate companies in their systems.  We actually spoke to them about how they were doing it.  For them, it is much easier to produce these statements, whereas we have one system for all of our accounts, one general ledger, one set of financial statements that we produce.

So we don't have -- you know, we can't kind of push a button and have a set of financial statements spit out for the nuclear segment or the hydroelectric segment, whereas - and I am oversimplifying this, of course - my understanding is they have that capability, just because they have been regulated from the start that way.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, but --


MR. KOGAN:  That was just to inform...

MR. MILLAR:  No, no.  That is very helpful, actually.  I think Hydro One is the closest, probably, to OPG, though subject to what you said it may not be identical.  They seem to have the capability to produce different sets of statements for the two sides of their business; is that fair?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  And I think I just described what the difference would be between their situation and ours, is that their systems have already been set up at the outset to treat them as two distinct businesses.  I believe they have been regulated like that from the very beginning, whereas we have not.  We kind of stepped into this in April 1, 2005, and then April 1, 2008, again.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  I understand you are new to regulation, but could your systems be altered to -- I assume the answer is yes.  Maybe I should ask a more relevant question.  What kind of undertaking would it be to rewire your systems to allow you to produce this type of data?

MR. KOGAN:  Very, very significant, and, as Mr. Barrett has alluded, we think that the -- certainly the utility of these statements, as demonstrated by their lack of use in this proceeding, would certainly -- sorry, the costs of modifying our systems that would be passed on to ratepayers would outweigh the utility of these statements, in our view.

MR. MILLAR:  It would be an IT budget item, I take it?  If you were ordered to do that, whatever costs would flow largely through your IT budget?

MR. KOGAN:  It would be an IT cost.  It would certainly be a finance cost, as well.  There could be other knock-on effects on our business units that -- for example, nuclear use a slightly different system that interfaces with our SAP system.

So there could be knock-on cost effects.  I couldn't even begin to estimate what the amounts would be.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, given all of the lost sleep you incurred in putting these statements together for this application, did you think at all about -- did you do any analysis of what it would take to rework the system? 

MR. KOGAN:  We have had high-level discussions, and basically that is what I have just summarized to you as has been identified.  It will be a significant undertaking to even identify the -- all of the systems that would need to be modified and all of the knock-on cost and effects.

And in all honesty, we were hoping that as part of this process, we would see how useful these statements would be, and perhaps in a discussion such as this one we would be able to persuade the Board that, really, this is not something that we should be doing. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand that, and obviously you will make whatever arguments you feel appropriate. 

In the context of your high-level analysis, did you do any even high-level costing estimates? 

MR. KOGAN:  No, we didn't.  We had discussions with some of our IT system and finance folks.

MR. MILLAR:  So you are not able to provide even a ballpark number? 

MR. KOGAN:  No, I'm not. 

MR. MILLAR:  Let's imagine the Board agrees with your position on this, and agrees it is more hassle than it is worth to provide these statements for the prescribed facilities. 

I would like to look at some other things you might be able to do that would assist the Board, maybe something that is a little bit easier or requires less work.

So let me ask you this.

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Would OPG be able to provide an analysis of the actual annual regulatory return, after tax on rate base, both dollars and percentages, for the regulated business, and a comparison with the regulatory return included in the payment amounts by June 30th of each year?  Is that something you would be prepared to do? 

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  We can certainly do that.  It would be similar to what I believe is set out in Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 7 for the historical period, and potentially one of the tables in Exhibit I, but yes, absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is something you could provide?

MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  I am just happy if I can get away without having to do these statements again.

MR. MILLAR:  I didn't say we were not going to ask for them.

MR. KOGAN:  It was a lot of sleepless nights.

MR. MILLAR:  There is an option B.  Okay.

Oh, boy.  Pensions and OPEBs.

I reproduced the impact statement, I think starting about page 69 or 68, but you might want to flip straight to page 70.  This is from Exhibit N, tab 1, schedule 1, and I am looking at page 3. 

Just to get some of the background on this, we discussed this with a previous panel, but I take it you are seeking the creation of a variance account for these amounts; is that right? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  And into that account would go something like $264 million?  That's the test period increases you see at the bottom?

MR. BARRETT:  What would go into the account is the difference between what pension and OPEB costs are reflected in the payment amounts, and the actual that emerges.

MR. MILLAR:  Which is currently about 260 -- 264 million, something in that range? 

MR. BARRETT:  With one caveat, that we haven't reflected in those numbers the tax effects that we reference in that section. 

MR. MILLAR:  That would be a gross-up for taxes? 

MR. BARRETT:  No.  There are some tax benefits that flow from contribution levels. 

So to the extent that costs go up, there could be or we expect that there might be increases in contributions, and those contributions would provide a tax benefit to ratepayers. 

MR. MILLAR:  Forgive my ignorance on these issues.

Will that make the number go up or go down?

MR. BARRETT:  We expect that would make it go down.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Are we talking by a million dollars?  10 million?  50 million?  Or...

MR. BARRETT:  The higher contribution levels have not been established, but it would be certainly more than a million dollars, I believe. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I would like to talk about the existence, at least possibly, of precedents for this type of variance account. 

I discussed this with the previous panel, and I have to say I thought I remembered us talking about Hydro One, but I couldn't actually find any references to that, so let me put the question to you this way. 

Is OPG able to cite any precedents for this type of a variance account?

MR. BARRETT:  There is a similar account that's been approved for Hydro One, and we will just find that information. 

MR. KOGAN:  Yes, I believe the reference that would have been made by our finance panel would have been to the account established in EB-2009-0096, for the distribution rates, Hydro One Networks. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you. 

Now, this is getting to the very edge of my ability to understand, but I understand there is a difference with that account, and that is that for the Hydro One, they're calculating those amounts on a cash-payment basis, whereas you are doing it on an accounting accrual basis, as required under GAAP?

I will be happy if you just say "yes" but if there is a further explanation, that's fine.

MR. KOGAN:  There is.  There is a further explanation. 

I agree with you that Hydro One, to our understanding, recovers their pension costs on a cash basis.  We recover our pension costs on an accounting or GAAP basis. 

But I would say that there is a similarity between the two accounts, in the sense that in the context of regulatory costs, the cash contributions are essentially the costs or the OM&A, if you wish, in the regulated world, for Hydro One Networks.

For us, the equivalent amount is on a GAAP basis.  But at the end of the day, the nature of the item is pension expense or OPEB expense, and we're seeking for the differential in those in a variance account.

So the base for calculation may be different, as established by the Board, but the nature of the account, in our minds, is very similar. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

So you accept there are some differences, but by and large you think the precedent should hold? 

MR. KOGAN:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Some questions about the 2011, 2012 test period expenses under these items. 

I take it that these updated costs should be considered as expenses to be examined in the context of the -- despite the variance account, but they are 2011, 2012 expenses?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Did you do -- you sought the variance account.  Maybe the simple question is:  Why?

Did you do any analysis of what the rate impact would be if you didn't push this into a variance account?

MR. KOGAN:  Just to clarify, if we actually sought these increases directly in this revenue requirement? 

MR. MILLAR:  That would be the alternative, right?  If these are expenses for 2011, 2012, the ordinary course would be to recover them at that time.

So I am presuming you had reason to push them to a variance account, and maybe you could tell me what that reason is.

MR. BARRETT:  Sure.  There were a couple of reasons, principally. 

One, we were bringing this forward fairly late in the day, in some respects.  It was well along in our application process, and we thought that it would -- there would be significant resistance to kind of incorporating this amount into the payment amounts at this stage.

Also, as we have described in the impact statement, I think, in the testimony, the actual costs are going to be a function of two things, which remain to be discovered at this point, which is the final December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011 discount rates, which haven't been fixed yet.  We have a forecast of them, but they haven't been fixed yet.

Also, the knock-on effects on increased contributions. 

So if you look at the kind of standard criteria that the Board applies to assessing whether or not there should be a variance account, is it material?  Is there a material difference?  Certainly, we expect a material difference. 

Is it something that is within the control of OPG?  No, because it is driven principally by discount rates, but there are other effects. 

Did OPG cause this?  No.  Again, it is a function largely of discount rates, which are exogenous to the company. 

And is it easily forecastable?  And it is not, given that it is a function both of discount rates which are yet to be determined, which can have a very significant impact, and also the knock-on effects on the contributions. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That is interesting and helpful. 

You stated that there is a chance for a material variance here, and I want to make sure I understand what you are talking about. 

It is your view that the -- let's just call it $260 million for the purposes of this discussion, that that amount, there may be a significant variance from that amount?

MR. BARRETT:  For two possible reasons.

One, because the discount rates could change again between now and when they get fixed at December 31, 2010, and subsequently December 31, 2011. 

And again, we haven't reflected, at this point, the impact on the contributions, because those have not been finally determined. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you will be updating the discount rates? 

MR. KOGAN:  We have to use the discount rates for accounting purposes at the end of the year. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And to the extent those discount rates go back to where they had been previously, this balance may disappear, I suppose?  Or I guess it could get bigger, it could get smaller?  We have to wait to see?

MR. BARRETT:  It will change.  We don't expect it will disappear.  We are significantly off the forecast expense which underpins the rate proposal.

MR. KOGAN:  The discount rates have significantly declined since the time that we had prepared the original forecast.  So we expect that there is going to be still a material difference.

MR. MILLAR:  Higher than $260 million?  Is that more likely than lower $260 million?

MR. KOGAN:  On that, I couldn't speculate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You would be investing in the stock market if you had that kind of information.

MR. KOGAN:  Exactly.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could you turn to page 74 of the booklet, please?

This is a copy of a letter from two ministers dated December 17th, 2009.  I think it was provided as part of an undertaking response.  Are you familiar with this letter?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, we are.

MR. MILLAR:  At the bottom paragraph, I guess it is the last -- well, I will read the whole paragraph:
"This letter constitutes our concurrence with the business plan.  Concurrence is given subject to the realization that the plan, including the projected financial performance, may change from time to time and have to be adapted to reflect changing circumstances, and that any such changes will be discussed in advance with staff at the Ministries of Energy and Infrastructure and Finance."

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Did you discuss this change with the Ministries?

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, which change, sir?

MR. MILLAR:  The variance account for the $260 million.

MR. BARRETT:  I didn't.

MR. MILLAR:  Did anyone at OPG?

MR. BARRETT:  Not as far as I am aware.

MR. MILLAR:  Would your reading of the letter require such a discussion?

MR. BARRETT:  Not in the context of OPG's overall business operations.

MR. MILLAR:  And why is that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, sir, if you could just restate your question?

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the letter says that any changes will be discussed in advance with staff at the Ministries of Energy and Infrastructure and Finance.  I understand that no such discussions took place, and I guess the answer is -- why not?

MR. BARRETT:  I think the logical conclusion is we didn't think it gave -- it was raised to a level of significance that required those discussions.  That must have been the business judgment.

MR. MILLAR:  So it was not a -- I shouldn't say not material amount -- not material enough to raise with the ministries?

MR. BARRETT:  Not to this level, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you could flip back to page 73, this is from transcript volume 12.  It was a discussion I was having with Mr. Pugh.  I was asking him about, for example, why -- just to provide you with the context, why there was going to be an update to the ROE number, but not the short-term debt numbers.

And Mr. Pugh responds at line 21:
"I think a lot of intervenors would accuse us of cherry-picking if we took selected things and updated them."

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  I see that, sir, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Pugh, I understand, was a former Board Staffer, so he is very prescient into the mind of Board counsel, but if I could...

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  What would you say if I suggested to you that your update for these pension costs is cherry picking?

MR. BARRETT:  I would disagree with that.

MR. MILLAR:  And why is that?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, two things.  When we prepared the impact statement, we cast our net broadly.  We asked all of the business units and corporate groups to identify to us things that had materially changed, and only three things came out of that process.

So we didn't cherry pick.  We cast our net broadly.  Of the three things, two of which are essentially offsetting - that is, the CNSC fee increase and the reductions to management compensation pursuant to the government policy - this is the one that remains.

MR. MILLAR:  So I don't know if you defined "material", but I think the CNSC and the management compensation were something around $12 million, without having it in front of me?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Did you give a threshold for materiality?

MR. BARRETT:  I think when we talked to people, we were talking in the order of I think $10 million, if memory serves.

MR. MILLAR:  So throughout the entire application, there would be no other variances since filing that would lead to an impact of greater than $10 million?

MR. BARRETT:  That is what we were advised.

MR. MILLAR:  When did you make this enquiry?

MR. BARRETT:  It was in the period preceding the filing of the impact statement.  So I don't know whether it was --


MR. MILLAR:  When was that filed, if you could remind me?

MR. BARRETT:  I think the discussions we had with the business units and corporate groups was in August.  The impact statement was filed --


MR. SMITH:  The update was filed on September 30th.

MR. MILLAR:  And your enquiries would have been in August, perhaps early September?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I think that is right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Madam Chair, I am actually moving along a bit more quickly than I had anticipated.  I am on to my last area.  As a final treat for the panel, just a few follow-up questions on incentive regulation mechanisms.

MR. BARRETT:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps the best place to turn to would be page 84 of the booklet.  This is a Staff interrogatory, No. 150, Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 150.

And we asked you some questions, as you will recall, about your plans going forward for IRM, understanding of course that the IRM mechanism itself is not an issue in this proceeding, but next steps, if I can put it that way, are before the Board.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You provided a very helpful response, so thank you for that.

Just to review some of the timelines that you are looking at, I understand that your proposed schedule, at least at this point, would be that OPG would file an application some time in 2011, and that application would set out its proposal for an incentive regulation framework; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And part of that application presumably would, or at least could, include the filing of expert evidence?

MR. BARRETT:  It could, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then just to be clear, what would happen after that, at least in your -- looking into your crystal ball as to how this might work out, there would be a hearing on the mechanism, and then, subsequent to that, there would be another presumably cost of service type hearing, after which the -- whatever incentive regulation mechanism had been set on would be tacked on to that to apply to future years, something like that?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is the general proposal, that we would have another rebasing proceeding.  But, again, all of this would be informed by the Board's decision in this case and any decision that might come out of the subsequent incentive regulation proceeding.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I recognize that you are just doing your best to take a look forward and you are not necessarily tied to any single position here, but I want to explore the timelines a little bit more carefully.

We are now getting towards the end of 2010.  Do you have any idea when an application might be filed in 2011; early, mid, late?

MR. BARRETT:  It certainly wouldn't be late.  Certainly when this proceeding is concluded, we will direct our focus to doing some work on incentive regulation.

We will obviously have to await the Board's decision and reflect on the directions in that decision, and that will inform that work.

But given that we're still early days on that work, I don't want to be pinned down to a particular month.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, I am not trying to.

MR. BARRETT:  But we are certainly -- I would like to see us file certainly before the midpoint of next year.  That may be -- turn out to be a very aggressive and optimistic forecast, but...

MR. MILLAR:  No, that's helpful.

MR. BARRETT:  We do like to challenge ourselves within OPG, and that is another challenge.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to be clear here, there are no traps here. I really do want to explore how this could play out if we were to follow this type of route.

I'm sorry, did you have anything to add?

MR. BARRETT:  No, other than to note that Ms. Reuber has given me a dirty look.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe more sleepless nights.

I take it that, at least generally, you are familiar with the types of incentive regulation mechanisms and programs that the Board has approved for the gas and electricity -- electricity LDC sector?

MR. BARRETT:  At a high level, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And are you familiar with the concept of total factor productivity?

MR. BARRETT:  At a very high level.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And again, I don't want to get into the detail.  I do understand the limitations on the jurisdiction in this proceeding, and this is solely to look at what kind of time is required to get some of these things ready.

Just to provide background for those listening, generally, many -- the way many IR plans work is there's an inflation factor, and then there is an offset against that inflation factor, which is called an X-factor, which is --sets to somewhat offset the inflation factor.

At the very highest level, would you agree with that? 

MR. BARRETT:  That is certainly the feature of some models, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Without pinning you to anything, is that, at the very highest level, the type of structure that OPG would be proposing?  Or are you able to answer that now?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not able to answer that at this point, sir.  We are still too early days.  We haven't had any discussions with -- we haven't completed our research and analysis.  That is a task to be done subsequent to this proceeding, and we would obviously have to talk to our senior management about the issue.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, maybe -- I won't pursue this exactly as I have it here.  But my question -- my question is:  To set either a total factor productivity number or an X-factor or indeed, any number of elements that might go into various forms of incentive regulation plans, you need to get expert evidence?  Would you agree with that? 

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is fair. 

MR. MILLAR:  Have you begun the process of retaining experts for this purpose? 

MR. BARRETT:  We haven't retained anybody that we would use in that proceeding. 

MR. MILLAR:  And I don't want you to feel uncomfortable discussing whatever your background plans are.  My question relates solely to timing, and it is this:  If we are looking at a filing of perhaps mid-2011, my understanding is that some of these studies are very involved, very laborious, and take many months to prepare. 

Have you considered that, when looking forward to 2011 and possibly filing mid-2011? 

MR. BARRETT:  I don't really have a lot of experience with those types of studies.  So again, the schedule we have laid out I would characterize as high-level and preliminary.  And again, I don't know where we're going to land on a model, whether a total factor productivity study would be necessary for it or not. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You haven't retained any experts yet, though? 

MR. BARRETT:  No experts -- we have a roster.  I think we described that we have a roster of people that we have attached several years ago, pursuant to an RFP process, that generally provide regulatory support.  Whether or not someone on that roster could deliver this, I haven't reached any conclusions about that, or whether or not we would have to secure some support outside that roster. 

MR. MILLAR:  Have you spoken with any of your potential experts about your proposed schedule? 

MR. BARRETT:  Not about the schedule.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you don't -- the short answer would be you don't know how much time an expert would require to prepare a report.  You haven't got that far in the discussions?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly not. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  A similar issue here, and I suspect you won't be able to provide a lot of information on this.  But one of the things people may be looking at, OPG or others, would be different IRM mechanisms for the nuclear and the hydro side.

Have you given any thought to that at all?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  It is too early days for us. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Panel, thank you very much.  Those are my questions. 

MR. BARRETT:  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I have a question about the nuclear fuel cost variance account.  We heard from a previous panel that except for the spike in 2006, the prices for uranium are fairly stable.  And you have much of that under long-term contract, much of the purchase under long-term contract, under indexed contracts. 

So my question is:  Why do you need a variance account for nuclear fuel costs? 

MR. BARRETT:  I think our experience to date has been there has been material differences between our forecast and actual. 

And my understanding of the evidence is that there is still a fairly wide range going forward, in terms of where nuclear fuel costs might end up. 

So there is still a significant risk of a material variance.  If we return to an environment like we saw some time ago of stable uranium prices, then I think that it is a fair question.  I just don't think we are satisfied -- or have enough information, rather, at this point, to know whether we're really in that stable environment, or whether we're still facing some of those spikes that we have seen in recent years.

MS. HARE:  But would you agree with me that if you didn't have a variance account, you would more aggressively manage those costs? 

MR. BARRETT:  No, I wouldn't agree with that.

I think we would take the same approach, same discipline to those costs. 

MS. HARE:  Because I asked the previous panel as to whether or not they pursued any options to try and minimize the cost consequences of contracts, in terms of either trying to get out of the contracts, or to renegotiate the contracts.  The answer was no, that they hadn't looked at that. 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I recall that evidence. 

Again, I don't know whether a variance account or not having a variance account would cause us to change our approach in terms of those contracts.

There may be other business relationship issues or other aspects of our strategy around security of supply and maintaining good relationships with suppliers that might inform that answer.

MS. HARE:  Thank you. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  I have a few questions, in sort of no particular order.

First of all, I am looking at Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 10A, which is the calculation of the Bruce lease net revenue, which was discussed earlier this morning, I think, with Mr. Millar.

MR. KOGAN:  I have that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I guess I am going to put some observations to you, and you can tell me whether or not you think my observations are correct.  And I apologize, it may also have been that some of these questions were more appropriate to the other panel, but I am going to use the remaining opportunity to you. 

As I look at this table, would I be correct in saying that under the costs for things like depreciation, property tax, capital tax, accretion, that those are relatively stable and relatively easy to predict? 

MR. KOGAN:  I would say that -- I would say yes, with the exception that for Bruce when you're talking about depreciation and accretion, you are engaging the issue of the asset retirement obligation. 

So for example, in 2010, I think we have discussed the issue of the Darlington ARO change that had a knock-on effect on other stations that included Bruce.  In fact, you can see going that in –- going from -- sorry, the '08 and '09 level of depreciation, for example, was in the $60 million range, would drop to 35 million in 2010, well, that is a result of that change in ARO, which led to a decrease in asset retirement costs.  And we are crediting back that difference, back to customers.

Similarly, with accretion, you are not seeing sort of the predictable $12 million-type increase that you normally would as a result of reduction to ARO.

So I think what you characterize is fair, but this would be the one major exception.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And that exception, to the extent there is the variability, it's arising directly from the business decisions and accounting decisions that the company is taking?  It is not externally influenced, per se?

MR. KOGAN:  Well, the changes to the asset retirement obligation could be driven by a number of factors, many of which could be cost estimate changes.

What we have seen in this particular instance is there was a life extension to Darlington, which was a result of our decision to proceed with the definition phase, so I think that, I would agree with that.

But for example, the requirement to file a new ONFA plan every five years, that is actually a requirement.  That is not a business decision.  Any underlying cost estimates that would change from the last ONFA plan could be driven by all sort of uncontrollable market conditions. 

And the other thing I would point out is, with respect to depreciation, there could be factors beyond OPG's control with respect to Bruce lives.

So I think there's been some discussion, or at least reference in the evidence, that OPG's working with Bruce under the auspices of the, I think, CANDU Owners Group with respect to extending the lives of the pressure tubes.  So this is with respect to our Pickering B operation.  So -- continued operations.

So with respect that that could lead Bruce, as well, down the road, as an example, to extend their lives.  If they decided they can run the stations longer and where we're aware of that, that could also be an external factor, as an example.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Then looking at the costs as a whole, and for purposes of my example if we could -- if you could set aside line 8, which is the earnings or losses on the segregated funds.  If we look at all of the other costs --


MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  -- and I am looking at the history, they are by and large -- I mean, they are always exceeding the revenue.  Is that a fair observation?

MR. BARRETT:  Not in 2009.  Not in 2009.

MR. KOGAN:  I am not sure that that would be necessarily a fair generalization.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I mean, even just as an example, I am looking at the accretion line.  And the accretion line, by and large, is either the same as the revenues or, in fact, greater.

MR. KOGAN:  Well, part of the revenue -- there is a number of factors that go into Bruce.  For example, in 2009, the revenues under line 1 were significantly affected by the valuation of the derivative embedded into the contract, the Bruce lease.  And we recorded significantly lower revenues as a result of having to recognize a liability for that derivative, because the terms are such that if the HOEP falls below $30, we have to make a payment to Bruce and recognize any probability of paying -- making that payment in the future under GAAP.

So there is certainly -- even in the revenue line, there is sort of a market-driven variability, because you are introducing a valuation to that derivative.  So it's --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I will come back to that point about the revenue, but even if we were to suppose that 2009 had revenues, lease revenues, in the same ballpark as the other -- of 2008 and 2010, the costs, the accretion costs alone, are at least the same level as the revenues and, in many cases, exceeds.  Am I...

MR. KOGAN:  I certainly agree with your math, if you are excluding the earnings --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  I want to ask some questions about the earnings, but I am sort of asking if we leave them out of the equation for the time being.  I understand that they are part of the equation, but --


MR. HEARD:  I think the difficulty is, most of the time, we look at the earnings on the seg funds and the accretion as being very much related, given that at some point in the future they would be equal, I think, down 
in -- long term down the road.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So even though we have this pattern where the accretion for 2008, 2009, 2010 is -- I mean, it varies, but it is in the same order of magnitude, whereas the earnings or losses, we're seeing dramatic change.

MR. KOGAN:  I think with respect to accretion, maybe I will just go back to the ARO point.  You could see significant step changes, is how I would describe it.

So we had -- the last ONFA plan, we had a change at the end of 2006, and when we updated that, the majority of the uptick in the ARO was actually related to Bruce.  So there was significant increase in the ARO for Bruce at that time.

So from 2006 to 2007, for example, there would have been a significant, what I will call, kind of a step increase in the level of accretion.  So then you could have several years where I agree with you there would be relative stability.  Mind you, I would expect about a $12 million increase, like I said, at this point, which you don't see in 2010, because we have a slight reduction.

So subject to recognizing that, you could have changes in ARO and accretion.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So over time, should the amounts for accretion and the recognition of either the losses or earnings on the seg funds, in some sense should those balance out over the very long-term, or not?

I guess what I am kind of getting at is, by adopting this GAAP-based approach for Bruce, which the Board directed last time and you are now implementing, are OPG's customers, ratepayers -- essentially, are the results for the Bruce arrangement going to be very significantly driven by earnings or losses on the seg funds?  In any given year, that is going to determine whether or not there's a benefit to the ratepayers, or a cost.

MR. BARRETT:  It will have a very significant impact, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  You don't expect that to change at all?

MR. BARRETT:  No.

MR. KOGAN:  It is a function of the markets; purely just that.  And that's been, if you look over the last five years, all over the place, unfortunately.  So, no, we expect there to be continued volatility in that.

MR. BARRETT:  And in some respects, the segregated funds will grow over time.  So the impact should also increase over time.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Because what I was -- and the reason I was -- I understand the link between the seg funds and the other aspects, but if we were to take that line out on sort of a steady-state basis, there don't seem to be significant net benefits for OPG's customers.

MR. BARRETT:  I guess what we're struggling with is the appropriateness of taking that one line out.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. KOGAN:  I guess --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess what I'm saying is if the markets were to be such that those seg funds neither lost nor gained money, or they gained money in some sort of actuarial steady-state sense as per, you know, the assumptions of what you would like to see, would the operation and the accounting for payment purposes, for the OPG payment purposes, around Bruce tend to be sort of a net zero position, or would there tend to be a net benefit for OPG's customers?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KOGAN:  Just to clarify, are we talking about a benefit on the entire Bruce, or specifically with respect to the variance account, because I think on the arrangement as a whole, putting aside the variance account, yes, we would say there would be a net benefit.

But the variance account is there and it protects us in situations where obviously we over- or under-forecast that benefit.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, I am using this as sort of the platform for the questions.

But, no, the question is at that higher level.  On a net basis, is accounting for Bruce on the GAAP basis going to typically result in net benefits for OPG's customers, assuming normal market conditions?

MR. BARRETT:  That would be our expectation, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Then, sorry, just coming back, Mr. Kogan, you also were referring to the impact of the recognition or a change in recognition for -- I believe it was a derivative instrument that affected the 2009 lease revenue?

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, I have forgotten.  Is that -- is there an explanation of that in the evidence?

MR. KOGAN:  Certainly.  It is at Exhibit G2, tab 2, schedule 1, and there will be some relevant discussion under section 4.1(ii), supplemental rent revenue.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. KOGAN:  And section 4.5, comparison of revenues.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, I am looking 
at -- this is to do with the hydroelectric water condition variance account.  I will give you the reference.  It is H1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9.

MR. KOGAN:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  At the bottom of page 8, there is the description of how the flows were different and you multiplied that to get the revenue impact, and then you also reflected the gross revenue charge.  And maybe it is because it is late in the day, but can you -- or late in the hearing.

Can you help me with:  Wouldn't the gross revenue charge already have been included in the payment amount?  So aren't you fully capturing the amount if you multiply the differential times the payment amount?

MR. KOGAN:  I think what we're doing is we are saying that if you alter the water flows to the actuals in our model, you're going to end up with a different energy.  And we take that delta in energy and multiply it by the regulated rate.  And that's one entry in the account, on the revenue line.

We then ask ourselves:  Well, if we had this hypothetically higher or lower energy due to these water flows being different than forecast, how would our gross revenue charge be different compared to what we filed in our application?

So essentially adjusting our gross revenue charge to go hand-in-hand with this hypothetical energy based on actual water flows.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But isn't there a component of the gross revenue charge built into the payment amount? 

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, it is part of that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I am --


MR. BARRETT:  So to the extent that we don't actually -- to the extent that we produce more energy, we're going to have to pay more GRC.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But if the account is capturing what you should have earned in terms of the incremental -- let's say it is one extra unit, and you multiply it by the payment amount, so you get that amount, isn't there a slice in that payment amount for the GRC? 

MR. KOGAN:  There is, certainly -- in determining the payment amounts, of course there will be a cost of GRC. 

I am just not sure if it results in any double-counting in any way, or inappropriate accounting.  I think that yields the appropriate result, because we are just simply trying to calculate the foregone revenue or the over-earned revenue, as you will, based on the -- kind of on the set rate.  Once the rate is set, we treat that as a given rate, as opposed to disaggregating how it has been arrived at.  Like, that's the revenue we have foregone, or...

MR. BARRETT:  I sense --


MS. CHAPLIN:  But I mean, you are not grossing it up for return on equity.  So I am still struggling. 

What I am perhaps -- perhaps if you could give an explanation by way of undertaking.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Hopefully, Mr. Smith will be --


MR. SMITH:  I don't think it will --


MS. CHAPLIN:  -- happy to do that for us.

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry, it is probably just late in the hearing process, and we're talking about something that --


 MS. CHAPLIN:  Granted.  And I don't want to take up unnecessary time, but I am curious about that.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that will be Undertaking J15.2.

Is everyone satisfied that we have a proper description of the undertaking?
UNDERTAKING NO. J15.2:  TO EXPLAIN THE COMPONENT OF GROSS REVENUE CHARGE BUILT INTO PAYMENT AMOUNT.

MR. BARRETT:  We are satisfied. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Here's a quick question.

So you still have the ancillary services net revenue account for nuclear, with very small balances. 

Is that an account that you –- and I don't mean this necessarily in a legal sense.  I mean, maybe it is a legal issue, but is this driven by the regulation, do you think, still?

MR. BARRETT:  No, it's not.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But this isn't one of the ones -- have you proposed to do away with this one?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  We are proposing to continue it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And why is that? 

MR. BARRETT:  Simply because it is something that is not within our control, and there is difficulty forecasting it.

I accept that the variances have been modest, but given that we have had it since 2005 and there can be variances, we thought it was appropriate to continue the account.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And as sort of a general question about your deferral and variance accounts, is it your view that your proposal as to how the accounts will be -- how the disposition of the accounts will be structured and the various time periods, will it be enduring if, for some reason or another, the company does not come back in along the time period that it has expressed its intentions? 

In other words, will we be in the same position we were in last time, in needing a subsequent accounting order to cover a year if, for example, you don't come in for 2013?

MR. BARRETT:  I think it would be a function of the wording that emerges in the rate order, and I think we will take care to do our best to make sure that the draft rate order reflects wording that would not impose that limitation or concern. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Hang on.  I think I just have a couple of more. 

With respect to the capacity refurbishment account, there was some discussion with Mr. Millar, particularly around the amounts for Pickering B.  I don't have the reference.  I think it was maybe page -- was it page 10 of his book?

And as I understand it, Mr. Barrett, it is the company's view that the account is authorized through the combination, perhaps, of the operation of the regulation and the Board's decision in the last proceeding; is that --


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  -- correct?  Okay. 

So in the normal course, for capital -- for capital expenditures that you would forecast for a test period, would it be fair to say that under sort of a traditional regulatory approach, to the extent that the actual costs varied, that there potentially would be an examination of that differential before that additional amount would be allowed in rate base, and that's where a prudence decision would be taken and those amounts would either be allowed or disallowed?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's fair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Now, to the extent that projects involve OM&A costs, and if those amounts are forecast for the test period in the traditional -- in a traditional sort of approach, where there is not a deferral account or a variance account, the company would be at risk to the extent that those costs varied?  Would that be fair to say?

MR. BARRETT:  If there was no variance account, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And that wouldn't -- just because they varied, and for example, let's say they happened to be higher than forecast, that doesn't necessarily mean that they were imprudent, does it? 

MR. BARRETT:  Absolutely not. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  But yet the company accepts that that would be a risk, in the event there is not a variance account, that that would be a risk that the company -- it is the company's responsibility to bear?  Would that be fair?

MR. BARRETT:  If there is no variance account, then the company is at risk for its forecast. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So if we were to be thinking about sort of the appropriateness -- I am looking at this account, and looking at page 16 of Staff's book -- it is of course capturing the capital amounts, but it is capturing for Pickering B, they are OM&A amounts that are being captured; that's correct? 

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  The variances?  So why is it -- why is it appropriate for customers to bear the risks associated with the variances in those OM&A costs, which you have acknowledged could vary and still be prudent?

So why should that be something that the customers bear, rather than the company? 

MR. BARRETT:  I wouldn't accept that the customers are necessarily bearing that risk and the company is not. 

Just because we have a variance account, as we have discussed, doesn't mean that those risks flow to customers.

We still have to bring those variances back to this Board and get disposition of them.  And we have to satisfy the Board that there is no imprudence in those balances. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  But I believe your position is to the extent that they were prudent, then the customers would bear the variances?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  And I guess I am trying to contrast that with the kind of normal course of events, where OM&A variances -- which may well be prudent -- are still borne by the company.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I think it is a function of the fact that the regulation requires the account to exist, and defines it to include capital and non-capital costs in respect of these types of projects. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  So we are where we are in that respect. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay. 

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I don't know whether this assists, but Regulation 6(ii)4 does refer to capital and non-capital costs explicitly. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  And then finally -- save the best for last -- the tax loss variance account. 

So I am trying to look at this from a higher altitude, shall we say.  And would it be fair -- and I am going to try to set out a characterization and work it through with you and see if you concur, or where I may be getting this wrong.

Is it your assessment that the cumulative effect of the Board's original decision and the review decision is such that what we should do is we should be going back and sort of, as the first step, determine what the tax losses for regulatory purposes should be for that period beginning in 2005 and going till the end of March 2008?  Is that...

MR. BARRETT:  I think the --


MS. CHAPLIN:  There is a number of steps, but is that one of the steps?

MR. BARRETT:  That will be one of the steps.  I think the place I start with this is, first, calculating what the amount of money was inappropriately taken from the company or the impact on the company.  That is the -- in the 21-month period, that is the $342 million we talked about.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And I guess I understand that, because that is the way the evidence has been presented.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am trying to see -- I guess I am --


MR. BARRETT:  At some point, you will have to determine how much tax losses from the prescribed facilities are available to offset that $342 million.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  And we have calculated that, I think, at $110 million, which has a revenue requirement impact of about $50 million.  So 342 less 50 gets you to 292 for the 21-month period in 2008 and 2009.

And then since the rates and the impact on the company continues into 2010, you've got to prorate the impact into that year, as well.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, you are going much faster than me, Mr. Barrett.

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I realize the way you have done it, and I guess I am trying to see if I can translate it into a different way and see if it still makes sense and if you agree.

So one of the steps is to figure out what the tax losses for regulatory purposes that are available for customers, and that is in that period starting when there was regulation leading up to the first payment period; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  One of the other steps that has to be taken is to figure out what the taxes for regulatory purposes were or should have been for the period April 1, 2008 to the end of 2009?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, what we call the benchmark tax calculation.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And in doing that benchmark tax calculation, one of the differences from the first -- what appeared in the first application is this different treatment of Bruce and different treatment of the nuclear liabilities.  Is that affecting those calculations?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly the different treatment for Bruce, because, again, the Board directed us to treat Bruce as if it was a not a regulated facility.

So in our original conception of this, our original integrated proposal, we had rolled in Bruce-related losses, because we were treating it as if it was regulated, including a return on rate base, et cetera.

But the direction from the decision was not to do that.  So all of the -- I guess there is two steps.  First, once you decide to not treat it as regulated, you are treating it as GAAP, and so -- treating it as part of our unregulated operation.

So to the extent that there were any losses for the prior April 1, 2008 period, they would have been used up in our unregulated operations.  They would have belonged to the unregulated part of the company.

However, if you actually were to look at that period under GAAP, there are no tax losses.  Those tax losses only arise if you give -- if you have a regulatory accounting construct during that period.

So there is kind of two levels of ways of looking at, in our view, that there are no tax losses for the prior April 1, 2008 period.

And in terms of nuclear liabilities, I will ask maybe my colleague, Mr. Heard, to speak to that.

MR. HEARD:  The nuclear liability piece, I was a little bit unclear about what you were looking for.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess I am just wondering:  Did the Board's decision and how that would be treated, does that have any impact on the determination of regulatory taxes?  Your expression leaves me to believe that probably not.

MR. HEARD:  I am thinking probably not, and the reason why I am thinking that is, when we were recalculating the amount of losses, comparing it to the $990 million and recalculating it to the new amount, that wasn't one of the items that we were seeing.  So it was basically just the four or five items that are shown on that one table 8 in that tax section of the exhibit.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Right, okay.  So having determined what the tax losses should have been for regulatory purposes and what the tax provisions should have been for the original test period, you then figured out what was in the payment amounts.  So that is the $342 million.

MR. BARRETT:  342.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And you do the math to come up with the amount; is that correct?

Then for figuring it out for 2010, are you using -- and I apologize again.  This is probably in the evidence, but are you using, in a sense, the average of the 2008 and 2009?  In other words, what are you assuming is embedded in the rates?

MR. BARRETT:  We are assuming that the 342 is embedded in rates, and we are prorating that number.  So essentially 12 over -- we are taking 342 and multiplying it by 12 over 21 to come up with, I think, 195 million.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And then part of your whole original construct the first time around was around accelerating the attribution of those tax losses to earlier -- to ratepayers sort of as soon as possible.

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  We first used the tax losses to take the taxes payable to zero.  There was a residual amount of tax losses left over that, in the normal course, would have been returned over, 2010, 2011, 2012, but because we were coming in with a 19 percent rate increase, we accelerated the return and pushed all of those savings into 2008 and 2009 --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.

MR. BARRETT:  -- to bring the asked-for rate down to 14 percent.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And the way you are doing it now, you will fully use them up, but is it my understanding that what you are reflecting for the Pickering A effect, you are not fully -- you weren't fully accelerating the losses?  You are matching them to the period?

MR. BARRETT:  You're talking about the parts?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  I will ask Mr. Heard to speak to that.

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  With the parts, we were just changing the timing to match the deduction that we were taking for those costs to the time at which we were recovering those costs through rates.

But the impact shouldn't be that significant of doing that, because, on the one hand, by doing that, it did reduce the losses.  In 2005, for example, it reduced it because, originally, we had taken all 250-some-million deduction in that year and we reduced the number down to 4 million, I think, but then we provided the deduction over the following years.

And so the difference shouldn't be really that big, if it was done in an alternative way, because all that would be happening is the tax loss variance account amount would be going down, but then there would be higher taxes in the later years, because that -- if we gave all the deduction, say, in 2005, the deduction wouldn't be available in 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 like we were providing it.

MR. KOGAN:  Maybe just to help out, Ms. Chaplin.  The deduction, the full amount, is being credited to ratepayers by the end of 2011, because that's when we end the amortization period, so it is really just shifting timing at this point.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all of our questions.  Do you have any re-examination, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  I do.  I don't expect to be particularly lengthy, so if people are interested in finishing the hearing, I am happy to go now.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think if the witnesses are willing, let's continue on.  Are you okay?
Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Let me just pick up on a couple of things that the Board -- that the Chair asked you.

The first was about the nuclear liability, and if I could just ask you, Mr. Heard:  What, if any, impact did your proposal to include a return on the asset retirement cost have in respect of the tax loss variance account?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KOGAN:  If we understand your question correctly, you're referring to our original proposal to earn --


MR. SMITH:  Going back to 2007-0905.

MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.  That reduced our return.  The rejection of that proposal reduced our return, and, therefore it led to a -- to a lower income tax expense.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And just -- the Chair asked you about the contributions that were made to the nuclear waste and decommissioning funds, in reference to -- I believe it was table 10A.

This builds on some questions Mr. Shepherd asked you about, but Mr. Barrett, I am going to get copies of this.

You should distribute these.

Mr. Barrett, I am just going to draw your attention to a document dated March 30, 2009, and as I understand it, this was OPG's reply submission in respect of the motion to vary.

If I could just draw your attention to page 3, paragraph 10, what was -- I'm sorry.  Page -- I just lost my page.

Page 4, paragraph 16, and what was OPG's advice to the Board in respect of the impact of the nuclear waste and decommissioning funds of the contributions it was making.  Page 4, paragraph 16.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I'm sorry.  I was flipping pages, so I didn't hear the question.  I'm sorry.

MR. SMITH:  Well, what was the advice that OPG was providing to the Board with respect to the impact of the contributions it was making on the nuclear waste and decommissioning funds, in respect of the tax losses?

MR. BARRETT:  As we say in paragraph 16, we identified that they would be a significant contributor to the accumulation of taxes, tax losses during the interim period.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I would like to mark this, having regard to Mr. Shepherd's comments yesterday.  So if I could have an exhibit number, that would be appreciated.

MR. MILLAR:  K15.2.  And these are OPG's reply submissions with regard to a motion to vary, dated March 30th, 2009.
EXHIBIT NO. K15.2:  OPG'S REPLY SUBMISSIONS WITH REGARD TO A MOTION TO VARY, DATED MARCH 30TH, 2009.

MR. SMITH:  And lastly, Mr. Heard, perhaps this builds on the Chair's comments, but certainly Mr. Shepherd's comments to some extent yesterday.  He spent some time with you on table 16, if you will recall.

I was wondering if you could comment on the utility or the purpose of that table and the utility for the Board in considering the tax loss variance account.

MR. HEARD:  Yes, I can.  The table you are referring to is Exhibit F4, tab 2 schedule 1, table 16.

MR. SMITH:  I will just pull it up.

MR. HEARD:  And I believe in that table, there may have been some confusion during that discussion at the time, because that table is not prepared on a GAAP basis, which would be required.

And in fact, table 16 was only prepared because the amount of losses originally calculated when the 990 million loss amount was calculated in the last rate application, was on the basis of Bruce being regulated, and therefore the sole purpose of that table is to determine how much loss should be pulled out, what dollar amount should be pulled out from that calculation of the $990 million.

And given that Bruce is not treated as regulated, if you are going to try and determine the tax expense for Bruce, you would have to redo the calculation for tax purposes for Bruce, and it would look more like the tables which we're showing for 2008 and 2009 in Exhibit G2, tab 2, schedule 1, table 8.

And then we, as well --


MR. SMITH:  Let me just turn that up.  G2, tab 2, schedule 1, table 8.  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  And there you would see a net tax expense, but also for 2010, 2011 and 2012, on Exhibit G2, tab 2, schedule 1, table 7.

MR. SMITH:  Which line are you looking at, sir?

MR. HEARD:  Just down at the -- I would be looking at the "future income tax total" line, 30, and the "income taxes current" line, 20.

So I would be taking the sum of those two lines to get your total tax expense, current plus future taxes.  And that is on table 7.

MR. SMITH:  So just so I have the numbers, for 2011 it would be zero for -- if I have it right -- for current income taxes in line 20, and 40 in line 30?  So the number would be the 40?

MR. HEARD:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. HEARD:  So that would be the logic that would have to be looked at.

And in doing that for 2005, '06 and '07, that is actually a tax expense for Bruce, which OPG hasn't recovered.

Therefore that was part of the confusion I think we generated yesterday when we were looking at that table, table 16.  It wasn't prepared on a GAAP basis.

The other points I would make are very similar to what Mr. Barrett has pointed out, I think, and he has covered.  But the logic behind that was that the OEB has determined Bruce to be treated as a -- not to be treated as a prescribed facility, and that therefore Bruce can't be included in the determination of the tax loss variance account, as that account only relates to the prescribed facilities.

And also, the OEB clearly had stated that Bruce wasn't regulated, and as Mr. Barrett pointed out, it is part of the unregulated business, and therefore any tax calculation is really commingled with the rest of OPG's unregulated business, and there would be no further benefits to provide.

But probably more importantly, the Board had found that regulatory accounting wasn't appropriate for Bruce, as OPG's investment in Bruce wasn't rate-regulated, and accordingly GAAP should be used.

And using GAAP to calculate the tax provision, as I was mentioning for 2005, '06 and '07, results in a net expense for those years.  That is something we did not recover.

And then looking forward, using GAAP for 2008 onward, there is no further benefits to be recognized from anything that happened previous to 2008.

Then lastly, one of the points that I was trying to clarify yesterday was even if you ignored all of these points and said that for some reason this didn't matter -- which I think we feel wouldn't be consistent with the preliminary mission of the findings of the last application -- but even if you do choose to ignore all of that, as I had mentioned yesterday, the majority of the deductions that we were looking at that were taking place in the 2005 to 2007 year related to Bruce were not funded by the ratepayers.

And specifically, I gave the example of this Bruce loss resulting from the one-time contribution in 2007, with funds received from Bruce in 2003 that OPG had paid tax on.

So when OPG was making the contribution and getting a deduction, it was really just sort of the natural thing following from the fact that OPG had originally paid tax when it received the funds.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.

Just one moment.  I am just finishing looking over my notes.

Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

The panel is excused, with the Board's thanks.  And I believe that concludes this portion of the hearing.

We would like to thank all of the parties for their contributions to this part of the proceeding, and also thank the court reporter and the court reporting team.

We are now adjourned until November 26th.  Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:05 p.m.


















PAGE  

